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Founded in 1948, Robert Half pioneered the
concept of professional staffing services. Today,
we offer businesses a full spectrum of specialized
staffing and consulting solutions.

Robert Half is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange (symbol: RHI) and is a member of the
S&P 500 index and the FTSE4Good Responsible
Investment Index. We have appeared on FORTUNE®
magazine's “Most Admired Companies” list every
year since 1998.

Professional Staffing Services

Robert Half is the world'’s first and largest specialized
staffing firm with 345 locations in 19 countries. Our
experienced, knowledgeable staffing and recruit-
ing professionals combine personal, one-on-one
service with leading technology to make the hiring
process easier and more efficient. We have one goal
with each interaction: to find the right match for the
clients and job candidates we serve.

Our professional staffing divisions include
Accountemps®, Robert Half® Finance & Accounting
and Robert Half® Management Resources, for
temporary, full-time and senior-level project profes-
sionals, respectively, in the fields of accounting and

finance; OfficeTeam®, for highly skilled temporary
administrative support personnel; Robert Half®
Technology, for information technology profession-
als; Robert Half® Legal, for legal personnel and
e-discovery services; and The Creative Group®,

for interactive, design, marketing, advertising and
public relations professionals.

Risk & Business Consulting.
Internal Audit.

Protiviti is a global consulting firm that helps
companies solve problems in finance, technology,
operations, governance, risk and internal audit. It has
served more than 35 percent of FORTUNE 1000®
and FORTUNE Global 500® companies. Protiviti and
its independently owned Member Firms serve clients
through a network of 75 locations in 25 countries.
Protiviti also works with smaller, growing companies,
including those looking to go public, as well as with
government agencies.

Robert Half connects with clients and candidates
through social media and industry-specific blogs,
all of which can be accessed at roberthalf.com.
Connect with Protiviti and its social media channels
at protiviti.com.
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Selected Financial Data

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Income Statement

Data:

Net service revenues $ 42459 $ 41112 $ 37770 $ 31751 $ 30365 $ 46006 $ 46457 $ 40135 $33384 $ 26757 $ 19750
Net income $ 2622 $ 2099 $ 1499 $ 661 $ 373 $ 2602 $ 2962 $ 2832 $ 2379 $ 1406 $ 6.4

Net income available to
common stockholders — $ 2622 $ 2089 $ 1478 $ 637 $ 361 $ 2427 $ 2888 $ 2768 $ 2338 $ 13856 $ 6.3
diluted

Diluted netincome $ 183 $ 150 $ 104 $ 44 $ 24 $ 159 $ 178 $ 162 $ 135 $ 79 $ 04
per share
Diluted shares 1376 139.4 1418 1440 1466 1625 1626 1706 1737 1756 1716

Cash dividends declared
per share $ 64 $ 60 $ 56 $ 52 $ 48 $ 44 $ 40 $ 32 $ 28 $ 18 $ -

Cash Flow Data:

Net cash flows provided
by operating activities $ 3092 $ 2892 $ 2663 $ 1769 $ 2402 $ 4471 $ 4112 $ 3762 $ 3276 $ 1618 $ 1128

Capital expenditures $ 537 $ 501 $ 5665 $ 3bB1 $ 412 $ 734 $ 88 $ 804 $ 618 $ 329 $ 368

Balance Sheet
Data at Year-End:

Total assets $ 14903 $ 13813 $ 13118 $ 12740 $ 12835 $ 14119 $ 14503 $ 14590 $ 13187 $ 1,1987 $ 09856
Debt financing $ 14 $ 15 $ 7 % 18 $ 19 $ 20 $ 41 $ 42 $ 31 $ 23 $ 24
Stockholders’ equity $ 9196 $ 8420 $ 8005 $ 8344 $ 8998 $ 9839 $ 9840 $ 10427 $ 9709 $ 9119 $ 7887
Revenues Net Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities
(in millions) (in millions)
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Robert Half had a successful year in 2013. Leading
contributors to growth were U.S. staffing operations,
particularly our technology staffing division and our
permanent placement unit, and Protiviti, our internal
audit and consulting subsidiary. Earnings grew faster
than revenues. Net income of $252.2 million and
diluted earnings per share of $1.83 grew 20 percent
and 22 percent, respectively. By the end of the year,
the company had reported 15 straight quarters of
year-to-year earnings per share gains in excess of
15 percent. Total revenues of $4.25 billion increased
3 percent from the prior year.

The U.S. economy improved modestly in 2013. Real
gross domestic product (GDP) grew at 1.9 percent
for the full year, with third- and fourth-quarter
GDP increases of 4.1 percent and 2.4 percent,
respectively. Monthly growth in U.S. nonfarm
payrolls was steady but measured. A shrinking
labor participation rate was a contributing factor
in the jobless rate declining to a five-year low of
6.7 percent in December.

As it turned out, last year's labor market conditions
were constructive for the temporary staffing indus-
try. Multiple periods of fiscal uneasiness helped lift
demand for contingent workers. As the year closed,
the number of temporary workers as a percentage
of the total U.S. workforce neared the all-time high
established in 2000. In fact, 10 percent of all jobs
created last year in the United States were in the
temporary help services industry.

We believe the increased penetration of temporary
professionals into the labor force is part of a broader
secular trend and reflects the appeal of these workers
as a flexible staffing option for employers. Our indus-
try helps businesses and other enterprises manage
variable workloads and specialized project demands.
Now, more than ever, the temporary staffing industry
brings to employers a valuable tool in controlling
costs and raising productivity.

Robert Half's non-U.S. staffing operations were chal-
lenged by a less favorable economic backdrop and
weaker staffing demand, particularly in Europe. Weak
conditions persisted, but early signs of improvement
began to appear late in the year. While it is too soon
to conclude that a European recovery is under way,
we believe our international businesses are well-
positioned to benefit as those economies and labor
markets strengthen.

Financial Condition

Robert Half's performance last year once again
demonstrated the attractive cash-generating charac-
teristics of our business. Cash provided by operating
activities was $309 million, up from $289 million

in 2012. Total operating cash flow produced in the
past decade totaled $3 billion.

Capital expenditures in 2013 were $54 million,
modestly below initially budgeted amounts. A
significant part of last year's outlays was directed
to information technology infrastructure projects,
including software development. Spending on those
assets is consistent with our long-standing focus on
bringing technological innovation to our business.
The overriding aim of all of our capital spending is
to increase the productivity of our staff and make it
easier and more convenient for our clients and job
candidates to do business with us.

After netting cash used for investing activities, last
year's free cash flow was $211 million. The past
five-year total was nearly $1 billion. We continued our
established practice of returning cash to sharehold-
ers in 2013. We have repurchased RHI shares in the
open market yearly since 1997 and paid cash divi-
dends quarterly since 2004.

Last year's open market share repurchases totaled

3.3 million shares at a cost of $118 million. We
ended the year with a board authorization to
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repurchase 8.1 million shares. Our board of directors
declared dividends equivalent to $0.64 per share

in 2013, which consumed a total of $89 million of
cash. Last year's $0.16 per share quarterly dividend
amount compared with $0.15 per share in the prior
year. The board recently upped the quarterly payout
to $0.18 per share. It was the 10th consecutive
annual increase since a cash dividend was initiated.
In the decade since our first cash dividend, distribu-
tions have compounded at a 13 percent average
annual rate.

Our balance sheet is solid. Our largest asset is
accounts receivable at $552 million, or 37 percent
of our $1.5 billion of total assets. Our customer
base is broadly diversified, with no industry or indi-
vidual company concentration. Year-end days sales
outstanding (DSO), which represents the average
collection period for receivables, was 46.3 days.
This is in line with our historical experience. We
concluded 2013 with a cash and cash equivalent
balance of $276 million, just $12 million below the
prior-year total. We essentially have no short- or
long-term debt. The company’s unlevered return on
equity for the year was 29 percent, and the 20-year
average return on equity was 25 percent.

Staffing Operations

Demand for professional staffing services remained
strong last year. Our three accounting and finance
staffing divisions represent the majority of our staffing
business domestically and internationally. These three
divisions produced a combined $2.4 billion in revenue,
or 64 percent of last year's global staffing revenue.

Accountemps provides accounting personnel on a
temporary basis. It was our initial temporary staff-
ing offering and is our largest single business unit.
Its 2013 revenues of $1.5 billion were 41 percent
of the staffing total and were down 1 percent from
the prior year. Accountemps’ business last year was

M. Keith Waddell
Vice Chairman, President
and Chief Financial Officer

Harold M. Messmer, Jr.
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

limited to an extent by the termination of banking
clients’ foreclosure review projects — government-
mandated investigations on behalf of customers
whose homes had been foreclosed upon by financial
institutions. The absence of that business made

for a slow start to the year. However, the revenue
stream was gradually restored by adding new clients.
Accountemps’ U.S. operations performed well in the
latter months of 2013.

Robert Half Management Resources provides
senior-level accounting and finance professionals
on a project basis, often for longer-duration engage-
ments. This business was launched in 1997. Last
year's revenues of $501 million were 14 percent
of the staffing total and decreased 1 percent from
the prior year. Robert Half Management Resources
continues to partner successfully with Protiviti.
Together, they offer a unique delivery model that
combines Robert Half Management Resources'’
experienced professionals with Protiviti's consultants
and business-solution providers to serve a broad
range of client needs.
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Robert Half Finance & Accounting provides
specialized permanent placement services. It was our
original business that was created in 1948. Its 2013
revenues of $348 million produced 9 percent of the
staffing total and increased 4 percent from the prior
year. We have been in this business for 65 years
and are widely recognized by job candidates and
employers as the market leader. The networks we
have established over decades and the data we have
accumulated from candidates and clients help us do
what we do best, which is to identify experienced
professionals who are a match for our clients’ exact-
ing hiring requirements.

OfficeTeam is our specialty administrative staff-
ing unit. It was our first expansion business beyond
our core accounting and finance specialties and was
started in 1991. Last year's revenues of $832 million
accounted for 22 percent of the staffing total and
increased 2 percent over the prior year. We have
been able to establish a solid presence in this busi-
ness over the past two decades, in part, by leveraging
our reputation in accounting and finance staffing.

A

Robert Half Technology was launched in 1994
and provides information technology support and
development professionals. Revenues in 2013
totaled $525 million, which represented 14 percent
of the staffing total and were 10 percent ahead of
the prior year. We have identified IT staffing as an
important growth opportunity for us and accordingly
have increased internal staff investment domesti-
cally and in select international markets. The market
size is significantly larger than that for accounting
and finance staffing. In an increasingly digital world,
small to midmarket companies, our backbone client
base, increasingly need more sophisticated IT capa-
bilities when they are hiring for IT positions.

Weaker economies outside the United States limited
overall growth in companywide staffing revenues last
year. Temporary and consulting staffing revenues
make up the largest of our three reporting busi-
ness segments. Global revenues for this segment
were $3.4 billion, up 1 percent from the prior year.
That modest growth rate is based on a 4 percent
increase in U.S. revenues and a 7 percent decrease
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in non-U.S. revenues. The contrast between U.S.
and non-U.S. performance also was apparent in our
permanent placement business, our second report-
ing segment. Companywide permanent placement
revenues grew 12 percent in the United States and
declined 8 percent in non-U.S. locations in 2013,
which resulted in a 4 percent revenue increase
overall versus the prior year. We are seeing evidence
that select global markets may be in the early stages
of strengthening. We expect to benefit from stronger
hiring demand should a full recovery take hold.

Protiviti

Protiviti, our third reporting segment, had an excel-
lent year in 2013. Revenues of $528 million were
17 percent higher than those in 2012, represent-
ing Protiviti's best year-over-year gain since 2005.
U.S. revenue increased faster at 21 percent, while
non-U.S. business grew 4 percent. On a global basis,
Protiviti improved its profitability in all four quarters
and reached double-digit percentage operating
margins in the final three months of 2013.

All of Protiviti’s client solutions services grew in
2013, most notably IT consulting, risk and compli-
ance, and internal audit. Client demand was driven
by generally improving market conditions and a
more stringent regulatory environment. Protiviti also
achieved growth in its service offerings related to
operations, governance and risk. Protiviti has received
marketplace recognition and numerous third-party
awards for its consulting and technology solutions.

Protiviti's 2013 operating results from non-U.S.
locations showed significant improvement. Company-
owned locations and independently owned Member
Firms serve clients through a network of 75 loca-
tions in 25 countries. In 2013, Qatar and South
Africa joined the roster of Protiviti's Member Firm
locations, and the South Korea office was converted
to Member Firm status. These moves deepened our
service capabilities, enabling us to better address
the needs of our global client base.

Protiviti continues to partner with Robert Half’s
professional staffing divisions on a blended service
delivery model. This unique approach combines
consulting and specialized staffing under one roof
at competitive prices. Global and regional consulting
competitors lack the flexible resource capabilities of
our staffing operations. At the same time, staffing
competitors lack in-house access to best-in-class
consulting methodologies like those of Protiviti.

Capitalizing on Our Strong Brand

Robert Half pioneered specialized financial recruit-
ment. We have a long and rich history in professional
staffing and have built widely recognized and
respected specialty staffing divisions that are
anchored by the global Robert Half brand. That
recognition did not happen overnight. We have
invested heavily for decades in supporting our
brands with robust marketing and public relations
programs. Those efforts continue with investments
in a variety of newer online channels as well as
traditional marketing channels. Our recruiters are in
the marketplace daily knowing they are backed by a
powerful global brand. In short, we believe that none
of our direct competitors can match the high profiles
enjoyed by our Robert Half brands.

Last year, we introduced a new logo and other design
updates that place greater emphasis on the Robert
Half name. The new logo was created with ease of
use and readability in mind, particularly targeting digi-
tal media formats and mobile applications.

Looking Ahead

We are optimistic as we enter 2014. Economic

data indicate small and midsize businesses — a key
market segment for Robert Half — are beginning

to hire again. These companies know that getting
the right candidate and assignment match can be
critically important. The costs of an ill-fitting hire can
affect small businesses disproportionately compared
to larger firms that may have a deeper bench of
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workers from which to draw. It is not uncommon for
small companies to be without a dedicated human
resources department. In these cases, they often
rely on our expertise and access to suitable candi-
dates. More often than not, they value speed and
quality over discounted pricing models.

IT staffing is an important growth opportunity for
Robert Half. We continue to invest in internal staff
committed to helping companies and other entities
strengthen their IT capabilities. As businesses strive
to keep up with technological innovations, they are
investing in customized software, IT security, robust
websites and social media. Finding the specialized
talent needed to execute these initiatives is often
challenging, especially for small companies that now
have many of the same IT needs as larger entities.
Regardless of size, virtually every firm needs a website,
wants web and data analytics, desires an intranet, and
sees efficiencies in cloud computing.

U.S. job growth for financial analysts, accountants
and auditors is expected to outpace the national
average between 2012 and 2022, according to
the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Bookkeeping,
accounting and auditing clerks are among the top
15 occupations with the highest projected number of
new jobs created by the early part of the next decade.

The increasingly stringent regulatory environment
around the globe is creating demand for both Protiviti
and staffing services. Financial services regula-

tions being issued under the U.S. Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the
demands of Basel Il and Ill are prompting companies
to seek compliance expertise. We also see oppor-
tunities with healthcare providers and insurance
exchanges that are managing healthcare enrollment
and services resulting from the implementation of
the U.S. Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.

Robert Half has a lengthy record of financial and
operational success. We enjoy among the best
reputations for stability and ethical standards in our

industry. Our management team is tenured, and our
staffing and consulting professionals are passion-
ate about their work. They are deeply committed to
providing unparalleled service. We remain focused
on the future while staying true to our roots as a
staffing and consulting industry leader.

We would like to convey our gratitude to our
employees and management teams for their hard
work and pivotal contributions in 2013. We would
also like to thank the members of our board of
directors for the encouragement and guidance they
provide and you, our stockholders, for your contin-
ued confidence and support.

Respectfully submitted,

,&/M . foth Kdlllf

Harold M. Messmer, Jr. M. Keith Waddell

Vice Chairman, President
and Chief Financial Officer

Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

March 14, 2014 March 14, 2014
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Robert Half International Inc. (the “Company”) provides specialized staffing and risk consulting services
through such divisions as Accountemps®, Robert Half® Finance & Accounting, OfficeTeam®, Robert Half®
Technology, Robert Half® Management Resources, Robert Half® Legal, The Creative Group®, and Protiviti®.
The Company, through its Accountemps, Robert Half Finance & Accounting, and Robert Half Management
Resources divisions, is the world’s largest specialized provider of temporary, full-time, and project professionals
in the fields of accounting and finance. OfficeTeam specializes in highly skilled temporary administrative support
personnel. Robert Half Technology provides information technology professionals. Robert Half Legal provides
temporary, project, and full-time staffing of attorneys and specialized support personnel within law firms and
corporate legal departments. The Creative Group provides project staffing in the advertising, marketing, and web
design fields. Protiviti, which began operations in 2002, is a global business consulting and internal audit firm.
Protiviti, which primarily employs professionals specializing in risk, advisory and transactional services, is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Company’s business was originally founded in 1948. Prior to 1986, the Company was primarily a
franchisor, under the names Accountemps and Robert Half (now called Robert Half Finance & Accounting), of
offices providing temporary and full-time professionals in the fields of accounting and finance. Beginning in 1986,
the Company and its current management embarked on a strategy of acquiring franchised locations. All of the
franchises have been acquired. The Company believes that direct ownership of offices allows it to better monitor
and protect the image of its tradenames, promotes a more consistent and higher level of quality and service
throughout its network of offices and improves profitability by centralizing many of its administrative functions.
Since 1986, the Company has significantly expanded operations at many of the acquired locations, opened many
new locations and acquired other local or regional providers of specialized temporary service personnel. The
Company has also expanded the scope of its services by launching the new product lines OfficeTeam, Robert Half
Technology, Robert Half Management Resources, Robert Half Legal and The Creative Group.

In 2002, the Company hired more than 700 professionals who had been affiliated with the internal audit and
business and technology risk consulting practice of Arthur Andersen LLP, including more than 50 individuals who
had been partners of that firm. These professionals formed the base of the Company’s Protiviti Inc. subsidiary.
Protiviti® has enabled the Company to enter the market for business consulting and internal audit services, which
market the Company believes offers synergies with its traditional lines of business.

Accountemps

The Accountemps temporary services division offers customers a reliable and economical means of dealing
with uneven or peak work loads for accounting, tax and finance personnel caused by such predictable events as
vacations, taking inventories, tax work, month-end activities and special projects and such unpredictable events
as illness and emergencies. Businesses view the use of temporary employees as a means of controlling personnel
costs and converting such costs from fixed to variable. The cost and inconvenience to clients of hiring and firing
regular employees are eliminated by the use of Accountemps temporaries. The temporary workers are employees
of Accountemps and are paid by Accountemps. The customer pays a fixed rate only for hours worked.

Accountemps clients may fill their regular employment needs by using an Accountemps employee on a trial
basis and, if so desired, “converting” the temporary position to a regular position. The client typically pays a
one-time fee for such conversions.

OfficeTeam

The Company’s OfficeTeam division, which commenced operations in 1991, places temporary and full-time
office and administrative personnel, ranging from word processors to office managers. OfficeTeam operates in
much the same fashion as the Accountemps division.
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Robert Half Finance & Accounting

The Company’s Robert Half Finance & Accounting division specializes in the placement of full-time
accounting, financial, tax and banking personnel. Fees for successful placements are paid only by the employer
and are generally a percentage of the new employee’s annual compensation. No fee for placement services is
charged to employment candidates.

Robert Half Technology

The Company’s Robert Half Technology division, which commenced operations in 1994, specializes in
providing information technology contract consultants and placing full-time employees in areas ranging from
multiple platform systems integration to end-user support, including specialists in web development, networking,
application development, systems integration, database design, security and business continuity, and desktop
support.

Robert Half Legal

Since 1992, the Company has been placing temporary and full-time employees in attorney, paralegal, legal
administrative and legal secretarial positions through its Robert Half Legal division. The legal profession’s
requirements (the need for confidentiality, accuracy and reliability, a strong drive toward cost-effectiveness, and
frequent peak workload periods) are similar to the demands of the clients of the Accountemps division.

Robert Half Management Resources

The Company’s Robert Half Management Resources division, which commenced operations in 1997,
specializes in providing senior level project professionals in the accounting and finance fields, including chief
financial officers, controllers, and senior financial analysts, for such tasks as financial systems conversions,
expansion into new markets, business process reengineering and post-merger financial consolidation.

The Creative Group

The Creative Group division commenced operations in 1999 and serves clients in the areas of advertising,
marketing and web design and places project consultants in a variety of positions such as creative directors,
graphics designers, web content developers, web designers, media buyers, and public relations specialists.

Protiviti

Protiviti is a global business consulting and internal audit firm composed of experts specializing in risk,
advisory and transactional services. The firm helps clients solve problems in finance and transactions, operations,
technology, litigation, governance, risk and compliance.

Marketing and Recruiting

The Company markets its staffing services to clients as well as employment candidates. Local marketing
and recruiting are generally conducted by each office or related group of offices. Local advertising directed to
clients and employment candidates consists of radio, websites, social media, job banks and trade shows. Direct
marketing through e-mail, regular mail and telephone solicitation also constitutes a significant portion of the
Company’s total advertising. National advertising conducted by the Company consists primarily of radio,
outdoor/billboard, digital and print advertisements in national newspapers, magazines, websites, social media
sites and trade journals. Additionally, the Company has expanded its use of job boards in all aspects of sales and
recruitment. Joint marketing arrangements have been entered into with major software manufacturers and
typically provide for development of proprietary skills tests, cooperative advertising, joint mailings and similar
promotional activities. The Company also actively seeks endorsements and affiliations with professional
organizations in the business management, office administration and professional secretarial fields. In addition,
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the Company conducts public relations activities designed to enhance public recognition of the Company and its
services. This includes outreach to journalists, bloggers and social media influencers, and the distribution of
thought leadership via print, video, corporate-maintained social media sites and other online properties. Local
employees are encouraged to be active in civic organizations and industry trade groups.

Protiviti markets its business consulting and internal audit services to a variety of clients in a range of
industries. Industry and competency teams conduct targeted marketing efforts, both locally and nationally,
including print advertising and branded speaking events, with support from Protiviti management. National
advertising conducted by Protiviti consists primarily of print advertisements in national newspapers, magazines
and selected trade journals. Protiviti has programs to share its insights with clients on current corporate
governance and risk management issues. It conducts public relations activities, such as distributing press
releases, white papers, case studies and newsletters, designed to enhance recognition for the Protiviti brand,
establish its expertise in key issues surrounding its business and promote its services. Protiviti plans to expand
both the services and value added content on the Protiviti.com website and increase traffic through targeted
Internet advertising. Local employees are encouraged to be active in relevant social media communities, civic
organizations and industry trade groups.

The Company and its subsidiaries own many trademarks, service marks and tradenames, including the
Robert Half® Finance & Accounting, Accountemps®, OfficeTeam®, Robert Half® Technology, Robert Half®
Management Resources, Robert Half® Legal, The Creative Group® and Protiviti® marks, which are registered in
the United States and in a number of foreign countries.

Organization

Management of the Company’s staffing operations is coordinated from its headquarters facilities in Menlo
Park and San Ramon, California. The Company’s headquarters provides support and centralized services to its
offices in the administrative, marketing, public relations, accounting, training and legal areas, particularly as it
relates to the standardization of the operating procedures of its offices. As of December 31, 2013, the Company
conducted its staffing services operations through 345 offices in 42 states, the District of Columbia and
18 foreign countries. Office managers are responsible for most activities of their offices, including sales, local
advertising and marketing and recruitment.

The day-to-day operations of Protiviti are managed by a chief executive officer and a senior management
team with operational and administrative support provided by individuals located in San Ramon and Menlo Park,
California. As of December 31, 2013, Protiviti had 59 offices in 23 states and 11 foreign countries.

Competition

The Company’s staffing services face competition in attracting clients as well as skilled specialized
employment candidates. The staffing business is highly competitive, with a number of firms offering services
similar to those provided by the Company on a national, regional or local basis. In many areas the local
companies are the strongest competitors. The most significant competitive factors in the staffing business are
price and the reliability of service, both of which are often a function of the availability and quality of personnel.
The Company believes it derives a competitive advantage from its long experience with and commitment to the
specialized employment market, its national presence, and its various marketing activities.

Protiviti faces competition in its efforts to attract clients and win proposal presentations. The risk consulting
and internal audit businesses are highly competitive. In addition, the changing regulatory environment is
increasing opportunities for non-attestation audit and risk consulting services. The principal competitors of
Protiviti remain the “big four” accounting firms. Significant competitive factors include reputation, technology,
tools, project methodologies, price of services and depth of skills of personnel. Protiviti believes its competitive
strengths lie in its unique ability to couple the deep skills and proven methodologies of its “big four” heritage
with the customer focus and attention of a smaller organization.
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Employees

The Company has approximately 13,000 full-time employees, including approximately 2,700 engaged
directly in Protiviti operations. In addition, the Company placed approximately 197,000 temporary employees on
assignments with clients during 2013. Employees placed by the Company on assignment with clients are the
Company’s employees for all purposes while they are working on assignments. The Company pays the related
costs of employment, such as workers’ compensation insurance, state and federal unemployment taxes, social
security and certain fringe benefits. The Company provides access to voluntary health insurance coverage to
interested temporary employees.

Other Information

The Company’s current business constitutes three business segments. (See Note M of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statement in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for financial information about the
Company’s segments.)

The Company is not dependent upon a single customer or a limited number of customers. The Company’s
staffing services operations are generally more active in the first and fourth quarters of a calendar year. Protiviti is
generally more active in the third and fourth quarters of a calendar year. Order backlog is not a material aspect of
the Company’s staffing services business. While backlog is of greater importance to Protiviti, the Company does
not believe, based upon the length of time of the average Protiviti engagement, that backlog is a material aspect of
the Protiviti business. No material portion of the Company’s business is subject to government contracts.

Information about foreign operations is contained in Note M of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
in Item 8. The Company does not have export sales.

Available Information

The Company’s Internet address is www.roberthalf.com. The Company makes available, free of charge,
through its website, its Annual Reports on Form 10-K, proxy statements for its annual meetings of stockholders,
its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, as
soon as is reasonably practicable after such reports are filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Also available on the Company’s website are its Corporate Governance Guidelines, its Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics, and the charters for its Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and
Nominating and Governance Committee, each of which is available in print to any stockholder who makes a
request to Robert Half International Inc., 2884 Sand Hill Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025, Attn: Corporate
Secretary. The Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is the Code of Ethics required by Item 406 of
Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-K. The Company intends to satisfy any disclosure
obligations under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding any amendment or waiver relating to its Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on its website.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The Company’s business prospects are subject to various risks and uncertainties that impact its business.
The most important of these risks and uncertainties are as follows:

The global economic crisis may continue to harm the Company’s business and financial condition. The
world economy may continue in a prolonged economic downturn characterized by high unemployment, limited
availability of credit and decreased consumer and business spending. Given the nature of the Company’s
business, financial results could be significantly harmed should such a prolonged downturn occur. In the past, the
Company’s business has suffered during periods of high unemployment as demand for staffing services tends to
significantly decrease during such periods. This impact on the Company’s business could be further dramatized
given the unprecedented impact it has had and may continue to have on the global labor markets.
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Any reduction in global economic activity may harm the Company’s business. The demand for the
Company’s services, in particular its staffing services, is highly dependent upon the state of the economy and
upon the staffing needs of the Company’s clients. Any variation in the economic condition or unemployment
levels of the U.S. or of any of the foreign countries in which the Company does business, or in the economic
condition of any region of any of the foregoing, or in any specific industry may severely reduce the demand for
the Company’s services and thereby significantly decrease the Company’s revenues and profits.

The Company’s business depends on a strong reputation and anything that harms its reputation will likely
harm its results. As a provider of temporary and permanent staffing solutions as well as consultant services, the
Company’s reputation is dependent upon the performance of the employees it places with its clients and the
services rendered by its consultants. If the Company’s clients become dissatisfied with the performance of those
employees or consultants or if any of those employees or consultants engage in conduct that is harmful to the
Company’s clients, the Company’s ability to maintain or expand its client base may be harmed.

The Company and certain subsidiaries are defendants in several lawsuits alleging various wage and hour
related claims that could cause the Company to incur substantial liabilities. The Company and certain
subsidiaries are defendants in several actual or asserted class and representative action lawsuits brought by or on
behalf of the Company’s current and former employees alleging violations of federal and state law with respect
to certain wage and hour related matters. The various claims made in one or more of such lawsuits include,
among other things, the misclassification of certain employees as exempt employees under applicable law, failure
to comply with wage statement requirements and other related wage and hour violations. Such suits seek, as
applicable, unspecified amounts for unpaid overtime compensation, penalties, and other damages, as well as
attorneys’ fees. It is not possible to predict the outcome of these lawsuits. However, these lawsuits may consume
substantial amounts of the Company’s financial and managerial resources and might result in adverse publicity,
regardless of the ultimate outcome of the lawsuits. In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries may become
subject to similar lawsuits in the same or other jurisdictions. An unfavorable outcome with respect to these
lawsuits and any future lawsuits could, individually or in the aggregate, cause the Company to incur substantial
liabilities that may have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s business, financial condition or results of
operations. In addition, an unfavorable outcome in one or more of these cases could cause the Company to
change its compensation plans for its employees, which could have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s
business.

The Company faces risks in operating internationally. The Company depends on operations in
international markets, including Europe, for a significant portion of its business. The European market has been
experiencing on-going economic uncertainty which has adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect,
the Company’s operations in Europe. To the extent that these adverse economic conditions in Europe continue or
worsen, demand for the Company’s services may decline, which could significantly harm its business and results
of operations. In addition, these international operations are subject to a number of risks, including general
political and economic conditions in those foreign countries, the burden of complying with various foreign laws
and technical standards and unpredictable changes in foreign regulations, U.S. legal requirements governing U.S.
companies operating in foreign countries, legal and cultural differences in the conduct of business, potential
adverse tax consequences and difficulty in staffing and managing international operations. In addition, the
Company’s business may be affected by foreign currency exchange fluctuations. In particular, the Company is
subject to risk in translating its results in foreign currencies into the U.S. dollar. If the value of the U.S. dollar
strengthens relative to other currencies, the Company’s reported income from these operations could decrease.

The Company may be unable to find sufficient candidates for its staffing business. The Company’s staffing
services business consists of the placement of individuals seeking employment. There can be no assurance that
candidates for employment will continue to seek employment through the Company. Candidates generally seek
temporary or regular positions through multiple sources, including the Company and its competitors. Any
shortage of candidates could materially adversely affect the Company.
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The Company operates in a highly competitive business and may be unable to retain clients or market
share. The staffing services business is highly competitive and, because it is a service business, the barriers to
entry are quite low. There are many competitors, some of which have greater resources than the Company, and
new competitors are entering the market all the time. In addition, long-term contracts form a negligible portion of
the Company’s revenue. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to retain clients or
market share in the future. Nor can there be any assurance that the Company will, in light of competitive
pressures, be able to remain profitable or, if profitable, maintain its current profit margins.

The Company may incur potential liability to employees and clients. The Company’s temporary services
business entails employing individuals on a temporary basis and placing such individuals in clients’ workplaces.
The Company’s ability to control the workplace environment is limited. As the employer of record of its
temporary employees, the Company incurs a risk of liability to its temporary employees for various workplace
events, including claims of physical injury, discrimination, harassment or failure to protect confidential personal
information. While such claims have not historically had a material adverse effect upon the Company, there can
be no assurance that such claims in the future will not result in adverse publicity or have a material adverse effect
upon the Company. The Company also incurs a risk of liability to its clients resulting from allegations of errors,
omissions or theft by its temporary employees, or allegations of misuse of client confidential information. The
Company maintains insurance with respect to many of such claims. While such claims have not historically had a
material adverse effect upon the Company, there can be no assurance that the Company will continue to be able
to obtain insurance at a cost that does not have a material adverse effect upon the Company or that such claims
(whether by reason of the Company not having insurance or by reason of such claims being outside the scope of
the Company’s insurance) will not have a material adverse effect upon the Company.

The Company is dependent on its management personnel and employees and a failure to attract and retain
such personnel could harm its business. 'The Company is engaged in the services business. As such, its success
or failure is highly dependent upon the performance of its management personnel and employees, rather than
upon technology or upon tangible assets (of which the Company has few). There can be no assurance that the
Company will be able to attract and retain the personnel that are essential to its success.

The Company’s business is subject to extensive government regulation and a failure to comply with
regulations could harm its business. The Company’s business is subject to regulation or licensing in many
states and in certain foreign countries. While the Company has had no material difficulty complying with
regulations in the past, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to obtain all
necessary licenses or approvals or that the cost of compliance will not prove to be material. Any inability of the
Company to comply with government regulation or licensing requirements could materially adversely affect the
Company. In addition, the Company’s temporary services business entails employing individuals on a temporary
basis and placing such individuals in clients’ workplaces. Increased government regulation of the workplace or of
the employer-employee relationship, or judicial or administrative proceedings related to such regulation, could
materially adversely affect the Company. In addition, to the extent that government regulation imposes increased
costs upon the Company, such as unemployment insurance taxes, there can be no assurance that such costs will
not adversely impact the Company’s profit margins.

Health care reform could increase the costs of the Company’s temporary staffing operations. In March
2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of
2010 (collectively, the “Health Care Reform Laws”) were signed into law in the United States. The Health Care
Reform Laws include a large number of health-related provisions, including requiring most individuals to have
health insurance and establishing new regulations on health plans. Although the Health Care Reform Laws do not
mandate that employers offer health insurance, beginning in 2015 penalties will be assessed on large employers
who do not offer health insurance that meets certain affordability or benefit requirements. Providing such
additional health insurance benefits to the Company’s employees, or the payment of penalties if such coverage is
not provided, will increase the Company’s expense. If the Company is unable to raise the rates it charges its
clients to cover this expense, such increases in expense could harm the Company’s financial results.
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The Company’s computer and communications hardware and software systems are vulnerable to damage
and interruption. 'The Company’s ability to manage its operations successfully is critical to its success and
largely depends upon the efficient and uninterrupted operation of its computer and communications hardware and
software systems. The Company’s primary computer systems and operations are vulnerable to damage or
interruption from power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer viruses, security
breaches, catastrophic events and errors in usage by the Company’s employees.

Failure to maintain adequate financial and management processes and controls could lead to errors in the
Company’s financial reporting.  Failure to maintain adequate financial and management processes and controls
could lead to errors in the Company’s financial reporting. If the Company’s management is unable to certify the
effectiveness of its internal controls or if its independent registered public accounting firm cannot render an
opinion on the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting, or if material weaknesses in the
Company’s internal controls are identified, the Company could be subject to regulatory scrutiny and a loss of
public confidence. In addition, if the Company does not maintain adequate financial and management personnel,
processes and controls, it may not be able to accurately report its financial performance on a timely basis, which
could cause its stock price to fall.

The demand for the Company’s services related to Sarbanes-Oxley or other regulatory compliance may
decline. The operations of both the staffing services business and Protiviti include services related to Sarbanes-
Oxley and other regulatory compliance. There can be no assurance that there will be ongoing demand for these
services. For example, the Jumpstart Our Business Startup (“JOBS”) Act signed into law in April of 2012 allows
most companies going public in the U.S. to defer implementation of some of the provisions of Sarbanes-Oxley
for up to five years after their initial public offering. This or other similar delays or modifications of the Sarbanes
Oxley requirements could decrease demand for Protiviti’s services.

Long-term contracts do not comprise a significant portion of the Company’s revenue. Because long-term
contracts are not a significant part of the Company’s staffing services business, future results cannot be reliably
predicted by considering past trends or extrapolating past results.

Protiviti may be unable to attract and retain key personnel. Protiviti is a services business, and is
dependent upon its ability to attract and retain personnel. While Protiviti has retained its key personnel to date,
there can be no assurance that it will continue to be able to do so.

Protiviti operates in a highly competitive business and faces competitors who are significantly larger and
have more established reputations.  Protiviti operates in a highly competitive business. As with the Company’s
staffing services business, the barriers to entry are quite low. There are many competitors, some of which have
greater resources than Protiviti and many of which have been in operation far longer than Protiviti. In particular,
Protiviti faces competition from the “big four” accounting firms, which have been in operation for a considerable
period of time and have established reputations and client bases. Because the principal factors upon which
competition is based are reputation, technology, tools, project methodologies, price of services and depth of skills
of personnel, there can be no assurance that Protiviti will be successful in attracting and retaining clients.

Protiviti’s operations could subject it to liability. The business of Protiviti consists of providing business
consulting and internal audit services. Liability could be incurred or litigation could be instituted against the
Company or Protiviti for claims related to these activities or to prior transactions or activities. There can be no
assurance that such liability or litigation will not have a material adverse impact on Protiviti or the Company.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties

The Company’s headquarters operations are located in Menlo Park and San Ramon, California. As of
December 31, 2013, placement activities were conducted through 345 offices located in the United States, Canada,
the United Kingdom, Belgium, Brazil, France, the Netherlands, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg, Switzerland, Japan,
China, Singapore, Australia, New Zealand, Austria, the United Arab Emirates, and Chile. As of December 31, 2013,
Protiviti had 59 offices in the United States, Canada, Australia, China, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands,
Japan, Singapore, India and the United Kingdom. All of the offices are leased.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On April 23, 2010, Plaintiffs David Opalinski and James McCabe, on behalf of themselves and a putative
class of similarly situated Staffing Managers, filed a Complaint in the United States District Court for the District
of New Jersey naming the Company and one of its subsidiaries as Defendants. The Complaint alleges that
salaried Staffing Managers located throughout the U.S. have been misclassified as exempt from the Fair Labor
Standards Act’s overtime pay requirements. Plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount for unpaid overtime on behalf
of themselves and the class they purport to represent. Plaintiffs also seek an unspecified amount for statutory
penalties, attorneys’ fees and other damages. On October 6, 2011, the Court granted the Company’s motion to
compel arbitration of the Plaintiffs’ allegations. At this stage, it is not feasible to predict the outcome of or a
range of loss, should a loss occur, from these allegations and, accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the
Company’s Financial Statements. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the allegations, and the
Company intends to continue to vigorously defend against the allegations.

The Company is involved in a number of other lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business. While
management does not expect any of these other matters to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition or results of operations, litigation is subject to certain inherent uncertainties.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market Price, Dividends and Related Matters

The Company’s Common Stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“RHI”. On January 31, 2014, there were 1,672 holders of record of the Common Stock.

Following is a list by fiscal quarters of the sales prices of the stock:

2013

Ath QUarter . . ... oo

3rd Quarter
2nd Quarter
1st Quarter

2012

Ath QUarter . . ... oo

3rd Quarter
2nd Quarter
1st Quarter

Sales Prices

_High — Low
..... $42.33  $37.16
..... $39.23  $30.64
..... $37.75  $31.08
..... $37.59  $32.22

Sales Prices
High Low

..... $31.84  $25.10
..... $29.41 $25.70
..... $32.32  $26.00
..... $31.00  $26.92

Cash dividends of $.16 per share were declared and paid in each quarter of 2013. Cash dividends of $.15 per

share were declared and paid in each quarter of 2012.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Maximum
Number of Number of
Shares  Shares that May
Purchased Yet Be
Total as Part of Purchased
Number of Average Publicly  Under Publicly
Shares Price Paid Announced  Announced
Purchased per Share Plans Plans (b)
October 1, 2013 to October 31,2013 . ................. — — — 8,617,378
November 1, 2013 to November 30,2013 .............. — — — 8,617,378
December 1, 2013 to December 31,2013 ............... M(a) $39.74 w 8,091,562
Total October 1, 2013 to December 31,2013 ............ 1,083,897 525,816

(a) Includes 558,081 shares repurchased in connection with employee stock plans, whereby Company shares
were tendered by employees for the payment of applicable withholding taxes and/or exercise price.

(b)

Commencing in October 1997, the Company’s Board of Directors has, at various times, authorized the

repurchase, from time to time, of the Company’s common stock on the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions depending on market conditions. Since plan inception, a total of 98,000,000 shares have been
authorized for repurchase of which 89,908,438 shares have been repurchased as of December 31, 2013.

The remainder of the information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Part III, Item 12 of

this Form 10-K.

<)



Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares, through December 31, 2013, the cumulative total return of the Company’s
Common Stock, an index of certain publicly traded employment services companies, and the S&P 500. The
graph assumes the investment of $100 at the beginning of the period depicted in the chart and reinvestment of all
dividends. The information presented in the graph was obtained by the Company from outside sources it
considers to be reliable but has not been independently verified by the Company.

Previously, the peer group for this graph included SFN Group Inc. During the five-year period, SFN Group
was acquired by Randstad Holdings N.V. in an all cash transaction. The Company and all of the other members
of the peer group are based in the U.S. and traded on either the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) or
NASDAQ. Randstad is based in Europe and is not traded on either the NYSE or NASDAQ. Accordingly, the
Company believes it is appropriate to adjust its peer group to not include Randstad and to add two other
companies that provide professional staffing services (Kforce Inc. and Resources Connection Inc.) that are based
in the U.S. and traded on either the NYSE or NASDAQ. The accompanying chart shows the performance of both
the new peer group and the old peer group (with SFN Group being included for the period prior to its acquisition
and Randstad being included for the period subsequent to its acquisition of SFN Group).

$350

$300 ’
/
$250 . ‘
$200
$150
$ 100 e | obert Half International Inc.
= e= S&P 500 Index
® e e e e New Peer Group(a)
o == o == (Qld Peer Group(b)
$0

12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012 12/31/2013

(a) This index represents the cumulative total return of the Company and the following corporations
providing temporary or permanent employment services: CDI Corp.; Kelly Services, Inc.; Kforce Inc.;
ManpowerGroup; and Resources Connection Inc.

(b) This index represents the cumulative total return of the Company and the following corporations
providing temporary or permanent employment services: CDI Corp.; Kelly Services, Inc.;
ManpowerGroup; and SFN Group Inc./Randstad Holdings NV. Effective September 2, 2011, SFN
Group Inc. was acquired by Netherlands-based Randstad Holdings NV. Accordingly, this index reflects
the performance of SFN Group prior to such acquisition and the performance of Randstad Holdings
thereafter.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected five-year financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with the information
contained in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,
and the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto contained in Item 8. Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data.

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Income Statement Data:
Net service revenues . .................. $4,245,895 $4,111,213 $3,776,976 $3,175,093 $3,036,547
Direct costs of services, consisting of
payroll, payroll taxes, insurance costs and
reimbursable expenses . .. ............. 2,522,803 2,462,153 2,287,374 1,981,060 1,932,868
Grossmargin . .............oiia.... 1,723,092 1,649,060 1,489,602 1,194,033 1,103,679
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSES .« vttt 1,324,815 1,305,614 1,240,184 1,079,033 1,036,899
Amortization of intangible assets ......... 1,700 398 153 411 1,460
Interest income, net .................... (1,002) (1,197) 951) (579) (1,443)
Income before income taxes ............. 397,579 344,245 250,216 115,168 66,763
Provision for income taxes .............. 145,384 134,303 100,294 49,099 29,500
Netincome ..............ccuiiunnnn.. $ 252,195 $ 209,942 $ 149,922 $ 66,069 $ 37,263
Net income available to common
stockholders .. ...................... $ 252,192 $ 208,867 $ 147,772 $ 63,729 $ 35,067
Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Net Income Per Share:
Basic ......... ... ... ... ... $ 1.85 $ 1.51 $ 1.05 $ 45 % 24
Diluted .............. ... ... ..... $ 1.83 $ 1.50 $ 1.04 $ 44 % 24
Shares:
Basic ......... ... ... ... ... 136,153 138,201 140,479 142,833 145912
Diluted .............. ... ... ..... 137,589 139,409 141,790 144,028 146,611
Cash Dividends Declared Per Share . . ..... $ 64 3 60 $ 56 % 528 48
December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets ....................c..... $1,490,271 $1,381,271 $1,311,836 $1,273,984 $1,283,535
Notes payable and other indebtedness, less
current portion . ..................... $ 1,300 $ 1,428  $ 1,545 $ 1,656 $ 1,779
Stockholders’ equity ................... $ 919,643 $ 842,011 $ 800,505 $ 834,371 $ 899,810
11
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Certain information contained in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and in other parts of this report
may be deemed forward-looking statements regarding events and financial trends that may affect the Company’s
future operating results or financial positions. These statements may be identified by words such as “estimate”,
“forecast”, “project”, “plan”, “intend”, “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, or variations or negatives thereof or by
similar or comparable words or phrases. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in the statements. These risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the following: the global financial and economic situation; changes
in levels of unemployment and other economic conditions in the United States or foreign countries where the
Company does business, or in particular regions or industries; reduction in the supply of candidates for
temporary employment or the Company’s ability to attract candidates; the entry of new competitors into the
marketplace or expansion by existing competitors; the ability of the Company to maintain existing client
relationships and attract new clients in the context of changing economic or competitive conditions; the impact of
competitive pressures, including any change in the demand for the Company’s services, on the Company’s ability
to maintain its margins; the possibility of the Company incurring liability for its activities, including the activities
of its temporary employees, or for events impacting its temporary employees on clients’ premises; the possibility
that adverse publicity could impact the Company’s ability to attract and retain clients and candidates; the success
of the Company in attracting, training, and retaining qualified management personnel and other staff employees;
the Company’s ability to comply with governmental regulations affecting personnel services businesses in
particular or employer/employee relationships in general; whether there will be ongoing demand for Sarbanes-
Oxley or other regulatory compliance services; the Company’s reliance on short-term contracts for a significant
percentage of its business; litigation relating to prior or current transactions or activities, including litigation that
may be disclosed from time to time in the Company’s SEC filings; the ability of the Company to manage its
international operations and comply with foreign laws and regulations; the impact of fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates; the possibility that the additional costs the Company will incur as a result of health care
reform legislation may adversely affect the Company’s profit margins or the demand for the Company’s services;
the possibility that the Company’s computer and communications hardware and software systems could be
damaged or their service interrupted; and the possibility that the Company may fail to maintain adequate
financial and management controls and as a result suffer errors in its financial reporting. Additionally, with
respect to Protiviti, other risks and uncertainties include the fact that future success will depend on its ability to
retain employees and attract clients; there can be no assurance that there will be ongoing demand for Sarbanes-
Oxley or other regulatory compliance services; failure to produce projected revenues could adversely affect
financial results; and there is the possibility of involvement in litigation relating to prior or current transactions or
activities. Because long-term contracts are not a significant part of the Company’s business, future results cannot
be reliably predicted by considering past trends or extrapolating past results. Further information regarding these
and other risks and uncertainties is contained in Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

As described below, the Company’s most critical accounting policies and estimates are those that involve
subjective decisions or assessments.

Accounts Receivable Allowances. The Company maintains allowances for estimated losses resulting from
(1) the inability of its customers to make required payments, (ii) temporary placement sales adjustments, and
(iii)) permanent placement candidates not remaining with the client through the 90-day guarantee period,
commonly referred to as “fall offs”. The Company establishes these allowances based on its review of
customers’ credit profiles, historical loss statistics and current trends. The adequacy of these allowances is
reviewed each reporting period. Historically, the Company’s actual losses and credits have been consistent with
these allowances. As a percentage of gross accounts receivable, the Company’s accounts receivable allowances
totaled 4.7% and 4.6% as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, a five-
percentage point deviation in the Company’s accounts receivable allowances balance would have resulted in an
increase or decrease in the allowance of $1.4 million. Although future results cannot always be predicted by
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extrapolating past results, management believes that it is reasonably likely that future results will be consistent
with historical trends and experience. However, if the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, or if unexpected events or significant
future changes in trends were to occur, additional allowances may be required.

Income Tax Assets and Liabilities. In establishing its deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the Company
makes judgments and interpretations based on the enacted tax laws and published tax guidance that are applicable to
its operations. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured and recorded using current enacted tax rates, which
the Company expects will apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are recovered
or settled. The likelihood of a material change in the Company’s expected realization of these assets is dependent on
future taxable income, its ability to use foreign tax credit carryforwards and carrybacks, final U.S. and foreign tax
settlements, and the effectiveness of its tax planning in the various relevant jurisdictions.

The Company also evaluates the need for valuation allowances to reduce the deferred tax assets to realizable
amounts. Management evaluates all positive and negative evidence and uses judgment regarding past and future
events, including operating results, to help determine when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the
deferred tax assets may not be realized. When appropriate, a valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax
assets to offset future tax benefits that may not be realized. Valuation allowances of $37.0 million and $39.3 million
were recorded as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The valuation allowances recorded related
primarily to net operating losses in certain foreign operations. If such losses are ultimately utilized to offset future
operating income, the Company will recognize a tax benefit up to the full amount of the related valuation reserve.

While management believes that its judgments and interpretations regarding income taxes are appropriate,
significant differences in actual experience may materially affect the future financial results of the Company.

Goodwill Impairment. The Company assesses the impairment of goodwill annually in the second quarter,
or more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) authoritative guidance. The Company
completed its annual goodwill impairment analysis as of June 30, 2013, and determined that no adjustment to the
carrying value of goodwill was required. There were no events or changes in circumstances during the six
months ended December 31, 2013 that caused the Company to perform an interim impairment assessment.

The Company follows FASB authoritative guidance utilizing a two-step approach for determining goodwill
impairment. In the first step the Company determines the fair value of each reporting unit utilizing a present
value technique derived from a discounted cash flow methodology. For purposes of this assessment the
Company’s reporting units are its lines of business. The fair value of the reporting unit is then compared to its
carrying value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to that
unit, goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is performed. The second step under the FASB guidance is
contingent upon the results of the first step. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value,
an indication exists that the reporting unit’s goodwill may be impaired and the Company must perform a second
more detailed impairment assessment. The second step involves allocating the reporting unit’s fair value to its net
assets in order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill as of the assessment date. The
implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is then compared to the carrying amount of goodwill to
quantify an impairment charge as of the assessment date.

The Company’s reporting units are Accountemps, Robert Half Finance & Accounting, OfficeTeam, Robert
Half Technology, Robert Half Management Resources and Protiviti, which had goodwill balances at
December 31, 2013, of $127.4 million, $26.6 million, $0.0 million, $7.2 million, $0.0 million and $39.6 million,
respectively, totaling $200.8 million. There were no changes to the Company’s reporting units or to the
allocations of goodwill by reporting unit for the year ended December 31, 2013.

The goodwill impairment assessment is based upon a discounted cash flow analysis. The estimate of future
cash flows is based upon, among other things, a discount rate and certain assumptions about expected future
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operating performance. The discount rate for all reporting units was determined by management based on
estimates of risk free interest rates, beta and market risk premiums. The discount rate used was compared to the
rate published in various third party research reports, which indicated that the rate was within a range of
reasonableness. The primary assumptions related to future operating performance include revenue growth rates
and profitability levels. In addition, the impairment assessment requires that management make certain
judgments in allocating shared assets and liabilities to the balance sheets of the reporting units. Solely for
purposes of establishing inputs for the fair value calculations described above related to its annual goodwill
impairment testing, the Company made the following assumptions. The Company assumed that year-to-date
trends through the date of the last assessment would continue for all reporting units through 2013, using unique
assumptions for each reporting unit. In addition, the Company applied profitability assumptions consistent with
each reporting unit’s historical trends at various revenue levels and, for years 2015 and beyond, used a 5%
growth factor to calculate the terminal value at the end of ten years for each unit. This rate is comparable to the
Company’s most recent ten-year annual compound revenue growth rate. In its most recent calculation, the
Company used a 10.5% discount rate, which is slightly higher than the 10.0% discount rate used for the
Company’s test during the second quarter of 2012. This increase in discount rate is attributable primarily to an
increase in the risk free rate, partially offset by a decrease in the equity market risk premium.

In order to evaluate the sensitivity of the fair value calculations on the goodwill impairment test, the
Company applied hypothetical decreases to the fair values of each reporting unit. The Company determined that
hypothetical decreases in fair value of at least 70% would be required before any reporting unit would have a
carrying value in excess of its fair value.

Given the current economic environment and the uncertainties regarding the impact on the Company’s business,
there can be no assurance that the Company’s estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the Company’s
goodwill impairment testing will prove to be accurate predictions of the future. If the Company’s assumptions
regarding forecasted revenue or profitability growth rates of certain reporting units are not achieved, the Company may
be required to recognize goodwill impairment charges in future periods. It is not possible at this time to determine if
any such future impairment charge would result or, if it does, whether such charge would be material.

Workers’ Compensation. Except for states which require participation in state-operated insurance funds,
the Company retains the economic burden for the first $0.5 million per occurrence in workers’ compensation
claims. Workers’ compensation includes ongoing healthcare and indemnity coverage for claims and may be paid
over numerous years following the date of injury. Claims in excess of $0.5 million are insured. Workers’
compensation expense includes the insurance premiums for claims in excess of $0.5 million, claims
administration fees charged by the Company’s workers’ compensation administrator, premiums paid to state-
operated insurance funds, and an estimate for the Company’s liability for Incurred But Not Reported (“IBNR”)
claims and for the ongoing development of existing claims. Total workers’ compensation expense was
$7.0 million, $10.9 million and $7.9 million, representing 0.22%, 0.36% and 0.30% of applicable U.S. revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The reserves for IBNR claims and for the ongoing development of existing claims in each reporting period
include estimates. The Company has established reserves for workers’ compensation claims using loss
development rates which are estimated using periodic third party actuarial valuations based upon historical loss
statistics which include the Company’s historical frequency and severity of workers’ compensation claims, and
an estimate of future cost trends. While management believes that its assumptions and estimates are appropriate,
significant differences in actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect the
Company’s future results. Based on the Company’s results for the year ended December 31, 2013, a five-
percentage point deviation in the Company’s estimated loss development rates would have resulted in an increase
or decrease in the reserve of $0.2 million.

Stock-based Compensation. Under various stock plans, officers, employees and outside directors have
received or may receive grants of restricted stock, stock units, stock appreciation rights or options to purchase
common stock.
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The Company recognizes compensation expense equal to the grant-date fair value for all stock-based
payment awards that are expected to vest. This expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period of the entire award, unless the awards are subject to performance conditions, in which case the
Company recognizes compensation expense over the requisite service period of each separate vesting tranche.
The Company determines the grant-date fair value of its restricted stock and stock unit awards using the fair
market value of its stock on the grant date, unless the awards are subject to market conditions, in which case the
Company utilizes a binomial-lattice model (i.e., Monte Carlo simulation model). The Monte Carlo simulation
model utilizes multiple input variables to determine the stock-based compensation expense. For grants with
market conditions made in the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company utilized an historical volatility of
32.23%, a 0% dividend yield and a risk-free interest rate of 0.36%. The historical volatility was based on the
most recent 2.61-year period for the Company and the components of the peer group. The stock price projection
for the Company and the components of the peer group assumes a 0% dividend yield. This is mathematically
equivalent to reinvesting dividends in the issuing entity over the performance period. The risk-free interest rate is
equal to the yield, as of the measurement date, of the zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bill that is commensurate with
the remaining performance measurement period.

No stock appreciation rights have been granted under the Company’s existing stock plans.

The Company determines the fair value of options to purchase common stock using the Black-Scholes
valuation model. The Company recognizes expense over the service period for options that are expected to vest
and records adjustments to compensation expense at the end of the service period if actual forfeitures differ from
original estimates. The Company has not granted any options to purchase common stock since 2006. There was
no compensation expense related to stock options for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, compensation expense related to restricted stock
and stock units was $38.9 million, $41.5 million and $50.9 million, respectively, of which $9.9 million,
$11.4 million and $13.3 million was related to grants made in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. A one-
percentage point deviation in the estimated forfeiture rates would have resulted in a $0.4 million, $0.4 million
and $0.5 million increase or decrease in compensation expense related to restricted stock and stock units for each
year ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note B—“New Accounting Pronouncements” to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
included under Part [I—Item 8 of this report.

Results of Operations

Demand for the Company’s temporary and permanent staffing services and risk consulting and internal
audit services is largely dependent upon general economic and labor market conditions both domestically and
abroad. Correspondingly, results of operations were positively impacted by improving global economic
conditions during 2013. Because of the inherent difficulty in predicting economic trends and the absence of
material long-term contracts in any of our business units, future demand for the Company’s services cannot be
forecasted with certainty. We expect total Company results to continue to be impacted by general
macroeconomic conditions in 2014.

The Company’s temporary and permanent staffing services business has 345 offices in 42 states, the District
of Columbia and 18 foreign countries, while Protiviti has 59 offices in 23 states and 11 foreign countries.

Because fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates have an impact on the Company’s results, the
Company provides selected growth percentages below on a constant-currency basis. Constant-currency
percentages are calculated using as-reported amounts which have been retranslated using foreign currency
exchange rates from the prior year’s comparable period.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To help readers understand the Company’s financial performance, the Company supplements its GAAP
financial results with revenue growth rates derived from non-GAAP revenue amounts. Variations in the
Company’s financial results include the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and billing days.
The Company provides “same billing days and constant currency” revenue growth calculations to remove the
impact of these items. These calculations show the year-over-year revenue growth rates for the Company’s
temporary and consultant staffing and permanent placement staffing segments on both a reported basis and also
on a same day, constant-currency basis for global, U.S. and international operations. The Company has provided
this data because management believes it better reflects the Company’s actual revenue growth rates and aids in
evaluating revenue trends over time. The Company expresses year-over-year revenue changes as calculated
percentages using the same number of billing days and constant currency exchange rates.

In order to calculate constant currency revenue growth rates, as reported amounts are retranslated using
foreign currency exchange rates from the prior year’s comparable period. Management then calculates a global,
weighted-average number of billing days for each reporting period based upon input from all countries and all
staffing lines of business. In order to remove the fluctuations caused by comparable periods having different
billing days, the Company calculates same billing day revenue growth rates by dividing each comparative
period’s reported revenues by the calculated number of billing days for that period, to arrive at a per billing day
amount. Same billing day growth rates are then calculated based upon the per billing day amounts. The term
“same billing days and constant currency” means that the impact of different billing days has been removed from
the constant currency calculation.

The non-GAAP financial measures provided herein may not provide information that is directly comparable
to that provided by other companies in the Company’s industry, as other companies may calculate such financial
results differently. The Company’s non-GAAP financial measures are not measurements of financial
performance under GAAP, and should not be considered as alternatives to actual revenue growth derived from
revenue amounts presented in accordance with GAAP. The Company does not consider these non-GAAP
financial measures to be a substitute for, or superior to, the information provided by GAAP financial results.
A reconciliation of the same-day, constant-currency revenue growth rates to the reported revenue growth rates is
provided herein.

Years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Revenues. The Company’s revenues were $4.25 billion for the year ended December 31, 2013, increasing
by 3.3% compared to $4.11 billion for the year ended December 31, 2012. Revenues from foreign operations
represented 24% and 26% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The
Company analyzes its revenues for three reportable segments: temporary and consultant staffing, permanent
placement staffing and risk consulting and internal audit services. In 2013, revenues for all three of the
Company’s reportable segments were up compared to 2012. Results were strongest domestically, with growth
rates outside the United States impacted by weaker economies in several countries, most notably within Europe.
Contributing factors for each reportable segment are discussed below in further detail.

Temporary and consultant staffing services revenues were $3.37 billion for the year ended December 31,
2013, increasing by 1.4% compared to revenues of $3.32 billion for the year ended December 31, 2012. On a
same-day, constant-currency basis, temporary and consultant staffing services revenues increased 1.6% for 2013
compared to 2012. In the U.S., 2013 revenues increased 4.1%, or 4.3% on a same-day basis, compared to 2012.
For the Company’s international operations, 2013 revenues decreased 6.7% and on a same-day, constant-
currency basis decreased 6.5%, compared to 2012.

Permanent placement staffing revenues were $348 million for the year ended December 31, 2013,
increasing by 4.0% compared to revenues of $334 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. On a same-

day, constant-currency basis, permanent placement revenues increased 5.1% for 2013 compared to 2012. In the
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U.S., 2013 revenues increased 12.5%, or 12.7% on a same-day basis, compared to 2012. For the Company’s
international operations, 2013 revenues decreased 7.5%, and on a same-day, constant-currency basis decreased
5.3%, compared to 2012. Historically, demand for permanent placement services is even more sensitive to
economic and labor market conditions than demand for temporary and consulting staffing services and this is
expected to continue.

A reconciliation of the non-GAAP year-over-year revenue growth rates to the as reported year-over-year
revenue growth rates for the year ended December 31, 2013, is presented in the following table:

Global United States International

Temporary and consultant staffing

AsReported . ... 1.4% 4.1% -6.7%
Billing Days Impact . . ...t 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
Currency Impact . ... 0.0% — 0.0%
Same Billing Days and Constant Currency ........................ 1.6% 4.3% -6.5%
Permanent placement staffing
AsReported ... ... 4.0% 12.5% -7.5%
Billing Days Impact . ......... . .. .. 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
Currency Impact ......... .. 0.9% — 2.0%
Same Billing Days and Constant Currency ........................ 5.1% 12.7% -5.3%

Risk consulting and internal audit services revenues were $528 million for the year ended December 31, 2013,
increasing by 16.7% compared to revenues of $453 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Contributing to
the increase was higher demand in the U.S. In the U.S., 2013 revenues increased 20.5% compared to 2012. For the
Company’s international operations, 2013 revenues increased 4.2% compared to 2012.

Gross Margin. The Company’s gross margin dollars were $1.72 billion for the year ended December 31,
2013, up 4.5% from $1.65 billion for the year ended December 31, 2012. For 2013 compared to 2012, gross
margin dollars for all three of the Company’s reportable segments increased. Gross margin dollars as a
percentage of revenues increased for both the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services segment and
the risk consulting and internal audit services segment on a year-over-year basis. Contributing factors for each
reportable segment are discussed below in further detail.

Gross margin dollars from the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services represent revenues
less direct costs of services, which consist of payroll, payroll taxes and insurance costs for temporary employees,
and reimbursable expenses. Gross margin dollars for the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services
division were $1.22 billion for the year ended December 31, 2013, up 1.9% from $1.20 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2012. As a percentage of revenues, gross margin dollars for temporary and consultant staffing
services were 36.2% in 2013, up from 36.0% in 2012.

Gross margin dollars from permanent placement staffing services represent revenues less reimbursable
expenses. Gross margin dollars for the Company’s permanent placement staffing division were $348 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013, up 4.1% from $334 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Because
reimbursable expenses for permanent placement staffing services are de minimis, the increase in gross margin
dollars is substantially explained by the increase in revenues previously discussed.

Gross margin dollars for risk consulting and internal audit services represent revenues less direct costs of
services, which consist primarily of professional staff payroll, payroll taxes, insurance costs and reimbursable
expenses. Gross margin dollars for the Company’s risk consulting and internal audit division were $155 million
for the year ended December 31, 2013, up 32% from $117 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. As a
percentage of revenues, gross margin dollars for risk consulting and internal audit services were 29.3% in 2013,
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up from 25.9% in 2012. The increase in 2013 gross margin percentage was primarily the result of higher staff
utilization rates. Utilization is the relationship of the time spent on client engagements to the total time available
for the Company’s risk consulting and internal audit services staff.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The Company’s selling, general and administrative expenses
consist primarily of staff compensation, advertising, depreciation and occupancy costs. The Company’s selling,
general and administrative expenses were $1.32 billion for the year ended December 31, 2013, up 1.5% from
$1.31 billion for the year ended December 31, 2012. As a percentage of revenues, the Company’s selling, general
and administrative expenses were 31.2% for 2013, down from 31.8% for 2012. For 2013 compared to 2012, selling,
general and administrative expenses decreased for the Company’s temporary and consultant segment and increased
for the Company’s permanent placement staffing services and risk consulting and internal audit services segments.
Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased for the Company’s temporary
and consultant and risk consulting and internal audit services segments and increased for the Company’s permanent
placement staffing services segment in 2013 compared to 2012. Contributing factors for each reportable segment
are discussed below in further detail.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services
division were $920 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, down 0.2% from $921 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses for
temporary and consultant staffing services were 27.3% in 2013, down from 27.7% in 2012. For 2013 compared
to 2012, the decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue is primarily due
to a $19 million, or 0.6% of revenues, charge in 2012 related to a litigation settlement disclosed in the
Company’s July 5, 2012, Form 8-K.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Company’s permanent placement staffing division were
$293 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, up 5.4% from $278 million for the year ended December 31,
2012. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses for permanent placement staffing
services were 84.3% in 2013, up from 83.3% in 2012. For 2013 compared to 2012, increases in field
compensation and variable overhead, partially offset by decreases in advertising expenses and fixed overhead,
drove the overall increase as a percentage of revenues.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Company’s risk consulting and internal audit services
division were $112 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, up 5.3% from $106 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses for risk consulting
and internal audit services were 21.2% in 2013, down from 23.5% in 2012. For 2013 compared to 2012,
improved leverage in general and administrative expenses, as a result of higher revenue, drove the overall
decrease as a percentage of revenues.

Operating Income. The Company’s total operating income was $398 million, or 9.4% of revenues, for the
year ended December 31, 2013, up 16.0% from $343 million, or 8.4% of revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2012. For the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services division, operating income
was $301 million, or 8.9% of applicable revenues, up 8.8% from $277 million, or 8.3% of applicable revenues, in
2012. For the Company’s permanent placement staffing division, operating income was $54 million, or 15.6% of
applicable revenues, down 2.4% from operating income of $55 million, or 16.7% of applicable revenues, in
2012. For the Company’s risk consulting and internal audit services division, operating income was $43 million,
or 8.1% of applicable revenues, up 292.7% from operating income of $11 million, or 2.4% of applicable
revenues, in 2012.

Provision for income taxes. The provision for income taxes was 36.6% and 39.0% for the years ended

December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The 2013 decrease is primarily due to foreign restructuring,
improving foreign results, and increased federal tax credits.
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Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

Revenues. The Company’s revenues were $4.11 billion for the year ended December 31, 2012, increasing
by 9% compared to $3.78 billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. Revenues from foreign operations
represented 26% and 30% of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The
Company analyzes its revenues for three reportable segments: temporary and consultant staffing, permanent
placement staffing and risk consulting and internal audit services. In 2012, revenues for all three of the
Company’s reportable segments were up compared to 2011. Results were strongest domestically, with growth
rates outside the United States impacted by weaker economies in several countries, most notably within Europe.
Contributing factors for each reportable segment are discussed below in further detail.

Temporary and consultant staffing services revenues were $3.32 billion for the year ended December 31,
2012, increasing by 9.0% compared to revenues of $3.05 billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. On a
same-day, constant-currency basis, temporary and consultant staffing services revenues increased 10.0% for
2012 compared to 2011. In the U.S., 2012 revenues increased 13.7%, or 13.5% on a same-day basis, compared to
2011. For the Company’s international operations, 2012 revenues decreased 3.0% and on a same-day, constant-
currency basis increased 1.3%, compared to 2011.

Permanent placement staffing revenues were $334 million for the year ended December 31, 2012,
increasing by 10.6% compared to revenues of $302 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. On a same-
day, constant- currency basis, permanent placement revenues increased 12.6% for 2012 compared to 2011. In the
U.S., 2012 revenues increased 20.5%, or 20.2% on a same-day basis, compared to 2011. For the Company’s
international operations, 2012 revenues decreased 0.6%, and on a same-day, constant-currency basis increased
4.1%, compared to 2011. Historically, demand for permanent placement services is even more sensitive to
economic and labor market conditions than demand for temporary and consulting staffing services and this is
expected to continue.

A reconciliation of the non-GAAP year-over-year revenue growth rates to the as reported year-over-year
revenue growth rates for the year ended December 31, 2012, is presented in the following table:

Global United States International

Temporary and consultant staffing

AsReported .. ... 9.0% 13.7% -3.0%
Billing Days Impact . .. ...t -0.3% -0.2% -0.2%
Currency Impact . ... 1.3% — 4.5%
Same Billing Days and Constant Currency . ....................... 10.0% 13.5% 1.3%
Permanent placement staffing
ASReported ... ..o 10.6% 20.5% -0.6%
Billing Days Impact .. ...... .o -0.3% -0.3% -0.2%
Currency Impact ........... .. 2.3% — 4.9%
Same Billing Days and Constant Currency . ....................... 12.6% 20.2% 4.1%

Risk consulting and internal audit services revenues were $453 million for the year ended December 31,
2012, increasing by 6.8% compared to revenues of $424 million for the year ended December 31, 2011.
Contributing to the increase was higher demand in the U.S. In the U.S., 2012 revenues increased 11% compared
to 2011. For the Company’s international operations, 2012 revenues decreased 5% compared to 2011.

Gross Margin. The Company’s gross margin dollars were $1.65 billion for the year ended December 31,
2012, up 11% from $1.49 billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. For 2012 compared to 2011, gross

margin dollars for all three of the Company’s reportable segments increased. Gross margin dollars as a
percentage of revenues increased for the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services segment and
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decreased for the Company’s risk consulting and internal audit services segment on a year-over-year basis.
Contributing factors for each reportable segment are discussed below in further detail.

Gross margin dollars from the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services represent revenues
less direct costs of services, which consist of payroll, payroll taxes and insurance costs for temporary employees,
and reimbursable expenses. Gross margin dollars for the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services
division were $1.20 billion for the year ended December 31, 2012, up 12% from $1.07 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2011. As a percentage of revenues, gross margin dollars for temporary and consultant staffing
services were 36.0% for 2012, up from 35.2% in 2011.

Gross margin dollars from permanent placement staffing services represent revenues less reimbursable
expenses. Gross margin dollars for the Company’s permanent placement staffing division were $334 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012, up 11% from $302 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. Because
reimbursable expenses for permanent placement staffing services are de minimis, the increase in gross margin
dollars is substantially explained by the increase in revenues previously discussed.

Gross margin dollars for risk consulting and internal audit services represent revenues less direct costs of
services, which consist primarily of professional staff payroll, payroll taxes, insurance costs and reimbursable
expenses. Gross margin dollars for the Company’s risk consulting and internal audit division were $117 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012, up 3% from $114 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. As a
percentage of revenues, gross margin dollars for risk consulting and internal audit services were 25.9% in 2012,
down from 26.8% in 2011. Lower gross margin percentages in the Company’s international operations
contributed to the decrease in 2012 gross margin percentage.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. The Company’s selling, general and administrative
expenses consist primarily of staff compensation, advertising, depreciation and occupancy costs. The Company’s
selling, general and administrative expenses were $1.31 billion for the year ended December 31, 2012, up 5%
from $1.24 billion for the year ended December 31, 2011. As a percentage of revenues, the Company’s selling,
general and administrative expenses were 31.8% for 2012, down from 32.8% for 2011. For 2012 compared to
2011, selling, general and administrative expenses increased for the Company’s temporary and consultant and
permanent placement staffing services segments and decreased for the Company’s risk consulting and internal
audit services segment. Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased for all
three of the Company’s reportable segments in 2012 compared to 2011. Contributing factors for each reportable
segment are discussed below in further detail.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services
division were $921 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, up 6% from $865 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses for temporary and
consultant staffing services were 27.7% in 2012, down from 28.3% in 2011. For 2012 compared to 2011, the
decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue is primarily due to the higher
operating leverage obtained by higher revenues, partially offset by a $19 million, or 0.6% of revenues, charge
related to a litigation settlement disclosed in the Company’s July 5, 2012, Form 8-K.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Company’s permanent placement staffing division were
$278 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, up 4% from $267 million for the year ended December 31,
2011. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses for permanent placement staffing
services were 83.3% in 2012, down from 88.2% in 2011. For 2012 compared to 2011, improved leverage in general
and administrative expenses, as a result of higher revenue, drove the overall decrease as a percentage of revenues.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the Company’s risk consulting and internal audit services
division were $106 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, down 2% from $109 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses for risk
consulting and internal audit services were 23.5% in 2012, down from 25.6% in 2011. For 2012 compared to
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2011, improved leverage in general and administrative expenses, as a result of higher revenue, drove the overall
decrease as a percentage of revenues.

Operating Income. The Company’s total operating income was $343 million, or 8.4% of revenues, for the
year ended December 31, 2012, up 38% from $249 million, or 6.6% of revenues, for the year ended December 31,
2011. For the Company’s temporary and consultant staffing services division, operating income was $277 million,
or 8.3% of applicable revenues, up 32% from $209 million, or 6.9% of applicable revenues, in 2011. For the
Company’s permanent placement staffing division, operating income was $55 million, or 16.7% of applicable
revenues, up 58% from operating income of $35 million, or 11.7% of applicable revenues, in 2011. For the
Company’s risk consulting and internal audit services division, operating income was $11 million, or 2.4% of
applicable revenues, up 119% from operating income of $5 million, or 1.2% of applicable revenues, in 2011.

Provision for income taxes. The provision for income taxes was 39% and 40% for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The 2012 decrease is primarily due to the resolution of certain tax
matters.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The change in the Company’s liquidity during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, is
primarily the net effect of funds generated by operations and the funds used for capital expenditures, repurchases
of common stock and payment of dividends.

Cash and cash equivalents were $276 million, $288 million and $279 million at December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011, respectively. Operating activities provided $309 million during the year ended December 31, 2013,
offset by $98 million and $220 million of net cash used in investing activities and financing activities,
respectively. Operating activities provided $289 million during the year ended December 31, 2012, partially
offset by $73 million and $210 million of net cash used in investing activities and financing activities,
respectively. Operating activities provided $256 million during the year ended December 31, 2011, offset by
$63 million and $226 million of net cash used in investing activities and financing activities, respectively.

Operating activities—Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2013, was
composed of net income of $252 million adjusted for non-cash items of $74 million, and offset by net cash used
in changes in working capital of $17 million. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended
December 31, 2012, was composed of net income of $210 million adjusted for non-cash items of $74 million,
and net cash used in changes in working capital of $5 million. Net cash provided by operating activities for the
year ended December 31, 2011, was composed of net income of $150 million adjusted for non-cash items of
$122 million, and net cash used in changes in working capital of $16 million.

Investing activities—Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013, was
$98 million. This was primarily composed of capital expenditures of $54 million and deposits to trusts for
employee benefits and retirement plans of $44 million. Cash used in investing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2012, was $73 million. This was primarily composed of capital expenditures of $50 million,
deposits to trusts for employee benefits and retirement plans of $9 million and payment of acquisitions, net of
cash acquired of $14 million. Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011, was
$63 million. This was primarily composed of capital expenditures of $57 million and deposits to trusts for
employee benefits and retirement plans of $7 million.

Financing activities—Cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013, was
$220 million. This included repurchases of $168 million in common stock, $89 million in cash dividends to
stockholders and $4 million of payments of notes payable and other indebtedness, offset by the proceeds of
$33 million from exercises of stock options and the excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation of
$8 million. Cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2012, was $210 million. This
included repurchases of $177 million in common stock and $84 million in cash dividends to stockholders, offset
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by proceeds of $43 million from exercises of stock options and the excess tax benefits from stock-based
compensation of $8 million. Cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2011, was
$226 million. This included repurchases of $168 million in common stock and $80 million in cash dividends to
stockholders, offset by proceeds of $18 million from exercises of stock options and the excess tax benefits from
stock-based compensation of $4 million.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company is authorized to repurchase, from time to time, up to 8.1 million
additional shares of the Company’s common stock on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions,
depending on market conditions. During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company
repurchased approximately 3.3 million shares, 4.7 million shares and 5.3 million shares of common stock on the
open market for a total cost of $118 million, $133 million and $142 million, respectively. Additional stock
repurchases were made in connection with employee stock plans, whereby Company shares were tendered by
employees for the payment of exercise price and applicable statutory withholding taxes. During the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, such repurchases totaled approximately 1.2 million shares, 1.7 million
shares and 1.0 million shares at a cost of $44 million, $50 million and $29 million, respectively. Repurchases of
shares have been funded with cash generated from operations.

The Company’s working capital at December 31, 2013, included $276 million in cash and cash equivalents.
The Company expects that internally generated cash will be sufficient to support the working capital needs of the
Company, the Company’s fixed payments, dividends, and other obligations on both a short- and long-term basis.

On February 11, 2014, the Company announced a quarterly dividend of $0.18 per share to be paid to all
shareholders of record on February 25, 2014. The dividend will be paid on March 14, 2014.

The Company’s cash flows generated from operations are also the primary source for funding various
contractual obligations. The table below summarizes the Company’s major commitments as of December 31,
2013 (in thousands):

Payments due by period
Contractual Obligations 2014 2015 and 2016 2017 and 2018 Thereafter Total
Long-term debt obligations . ................ $ 252 $ 505 $ 505 $ 757 $ 2,019
Operating lease obligations . ................ 88,434 132,398 74,613 86,276 381,721
Purchase obligations ...................... 28,392 26,702 6,155 — 61,249
Other liabilities .......................... 2,116 1,621 872 14,430 19,039
Total ...... ... . . .. ... $119,194  $161,226 $82,145 $101,463 $464,028

Long-term debt obligations consist of promissory notes and related interest as well as other forms of
indebtedness issued in connection with certain acquisitions and other payment obligations. Operating lease
obligations consist of minimum rental commitments for 2014 and thereafter under non-cancelable leases in effect
at December 31, 2013. Purchase obligations consist of purchase commitments primarily related to telecom
service agreements, software licenses and subscriptions, and computer hardware and software maintenance
agreements. Other liabilities consist of asset retirement and deferred compensation obligations.

The above table does not reflect $6.1 million of gross unrecognized tax benefits which the Company has
accrued for uncertain tax positions in accordance with FASB authoritative guidance. As of December 31, 2013,
the Company classified $2.2 million of its unrecognized tax benefits as a current liability, as these amounts are
expected to be resolved in the next twelve months. The remaining $3.9 million of unrecognized tax benefits have
been classified as a non-current liability, as a reasonably reliable estimate of the period of future payments, if
any, could not be determined.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. The Company’s exposure to foreign
currency exchange rates relates primarily to the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. Exchange rates impact the U.S.
dollar value of the Company’s reported earnings, investments in its foreign subsidiaries, and the intercompany
transactions with its foreign subsidiaries.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, approximately 24% of the Company’s revenues were generated
outside of the United States. These operations transact business in their functional currency. As a result,
fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar have an impact on the Company’s reported
results. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the monthly
average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Consequently, as the value of the U.S. dollar changes
relative to the currencies of the Company’s non-U.S. markets, the Company’s reported results vary.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates impact the U.S. dollar amount of the Company’s stockholders’
equity. The assets and liabilities of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the
exchange rates in effect at period end. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in stockholders’ equity
as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(in thousands, except share amounts)

December 31,

2013 2012
ASSETS

Cash and cashequivalents .. .......... .. i $ 275,764 $ 287,635
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $27,261 and $24,852 .. ................. 551,905 512,852
Current deferred inCOmME taXeS . ... ... .ottt 112,881 102,993
Other CUITENt @SSELS . . . oottt ettt et et e e e e 231,978 161,205

Total CUITENT ASSELS . . o oo e e e e e e e e e 1,172,528 1,064,685
GoodwWill ... 200,833 201,339
Other intangible assets, Net . .. ...« ..ottt e 556 2,256
Property and equipment, Nt .. ......... it 112,644 107,680
Other @SSELS . ottt ettt 3,710 5,311

TOtal ASSELS . o . v ettt $1,490,271 $1,381,271

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses . . .. ... i i $ 139,683 $ 139,879
Accrued payroll costs and retirement obligations .. ............ .. ... ... 396,042 361,641
Current portion of notes payable and other indebtedness ........................ 128 117

Total current liabilities . ... ........ .. ... 535,853 501,637
Notes payable and other indebtedness, less current portion . ..................... 1,300 1,428
Other HabilitieS . ... ... ... e 33,475 36,195

Total HabilitieS . ... ... . . 570,628 539,260
Commitments and Contingencies (Note I)

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.001 par value authorized 5,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
ZETO SNATES . . o — —
Common stock, $.001 par value authorized 260,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 137,466,421 and 139,438,603 shares ............... .. .cvu.... 137 139

Capital SUrPlUS . . ..ot 868,120 798,093
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ................iiiiiiia... 38,071 43,779
Retained earnings .. ... ...ttt 13,315 —

Total stockholders’ equity . ... ... ...ttt 919,643 842,011

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .............. .. .. .. ... .. .. .... $1,490,271 $1,381,271

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
NEL SEIVICE TEVENUES . . v v v e et e e e e e et e e e e e e e e $4,245,895 $4,111,213 $3,776,976
Direct costs of services, consisting of payroll, payroll taxes, insurance
costs and reimbursable expenses . ... ... .o 2,522,803 2,462,153 2,287,374

GroSS MATGIN . ..o\ttt ettt e ettt ettt 1,723,092 1,649,060 1,489,602
Selling, general and administrative eXpenses . ..................... 1,324,815 1,305,614 1,240,184
Amortization of intangible assets ............. ... ... 1,700 398 153
Interest inCOME, NEL . . . ..ottt e e e e (1,002) (1,197) 951)
Income before income taxes . ...........o it 397,579 344,245 250,216
Provision for inCOMe taxes . ...... ...t 145,384 134,303 100,294
NELINCOME vt ettt e e e e e e e e i $ 252,195 $ 209,942 149,922
Net income available to common stockholders—diluted ............. $ 252,192 $ 208,867 147,772
Net income per share (Note L):

BasiC ... $ 185 $ 1.51 $ 1.05

Diluted .. ... $ 1.83 % 1.50 $ 1.04
Shares:

BasiC ... 136,153 138,201 140,479

Diluted .. ... 137,589 139,409 141,790
Cash dividends declared per share .............................. $ 064 $ 60 $ .56

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
NELINCOME . o v ettt e e e e e e e e e $252,195 $209,942 $149,922
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netof tax ................. (5,708) 2,892 (6,233)
Total comprehensive income . .............ovuiieunernann... $246,487 $212,834 $143,689

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
COMMON STOCK—SHARES:
Balance at beginning of period . ........ .. ... . . o L. 139,439 142,086 146,183
Net issuances of restricted stock . ........ ... . . . ... 1,091 1,443 1,425
Repurchases of common stock .. ........ .. .. . ... .. . ... (4,461) (6,350) (6,328)
Exercises of stock options ........... .. .. .. ... 1,397 2,260 806
Balance atend of period . .......... ... . .. 137,466 139,439 142,086
COMMON STOCK—PAR VALUE:
Balance at beginning of period . ............ ... ... .. ... $ 139 §$ 142 $ 146
Net issuances of restricted stock ............. ... ... ... ....... 1 1 1
Repurchases of common stock . ....... .. ... ... ... .. 4) (6) (6)
Exercises of stock options . .......... ... ... 1 2 1
Balance atend of period .. ....... ... ... L i $ 137 $ 139 $ 142
CAPITAL SURPLUS:
Balance at beginning of period . ........... ... ... .. ... ... $ 798,093 $ 759,476 $ 787,105
Net issuances of restricted stock at parvalue . . ................... (D) (D) (D)
Repurchases of common stock—excess over par value ............ — (7,715) (20,641)
Cash dividends ($.64 per share, $.60 per share and $.56 per share) . .. (12,256) (49,971) (81,024)
Stock-based compensation eXpense . .. .. .........ieiiaaan.. 38,867 41,464 50,906
Exercises of stock options—excess over par value ................ 33,285 42,936 18,308
Tax impact of equity incentive plans .............. ... ... ....... 10,132 11,904 4,823
Balance atendof period .. ........ ... . ... ... $ 868,120 $ 798,093 $ 759,476
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
Balance at beginning of period . ........... . ... .. . $ 43,779 $ 40,887 $ 47,120
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netof tax ............... (5,708) 2,892 (6,233)
Balance atend of period . ........... ... ... .. i $ 38,071 $ 43,779 $ 40,887
RETAINED EARNINGS:
Balance at beginning of period . ............ ... ... .. ... $ — 3 — 3 —
NetINCOME . .ottt ettt e e e e e e ettt e 252,195 209,942 149,922
Repurchases of common stock—excess over par value ............ (162,029) (175,015) (149,922)
Cash dividends ($.64 per share and $.60 per share) ................ (76,851)  (34,927) —
Balance atend of period .. ....... ... ... . $ 13,315 $ — % —

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Netincome . ........ ... i
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating

activities:

Amortization of intangible assets . .. .......... ... ... ...
Depreciation eXpense . . .. ...c.vu vttt

Stock-based compensation expense—restricted stock and stock

UDES .t ettt e e
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation ...........
Deferred income taxes ... ........ooutiiinreiian..
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable ..................

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:

Increase in accounts receivable ............ .. ... .. ... ...,
Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued payroll
costs and retirement obligations . ........................
(Decrease) increase in income taxes payable . ................
Change in other assets, net of change in other liabilities .. ......

Net cash flows provided by operating activities ......................
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Payment for acquisitions, net of cash acquired ...............
Capital expenditures . ...... ..ottt
Increase in trusts for employee benefits and retirement plans . . . .

Net cash flows used in investing activities ..................

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Repurchases of common stock ............ .. ... .. .. .. ..
Cashdividendspaid ......... . ... .. . i,
Decrease in notes payable and other indebtedness ............
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation ...........
Proceeds from exercises of stock options ...................

Net cash flows used in financing activities ..................

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ...........

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ..................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .....................

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period . .........................

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest ...
Income taxes, netofrefunds ................. ... . .......

Non-cash items:

Stock repurchases awaiting settlement . .. ...................

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$252,195 $209,942 $ 149,922
1,700 398 153
47,072 48326 51262
38,867 41464 50,906
(8,103)  (8,475)  (4.211)
(13,259)  (14,993) 17,156
7467 7,133 6,673
(47,699)  (21,354)  (81,314)
38,356 16,672 64,932
(11,927) 15,160 6,368
4,548 (5,096) (5,531
309217 289,177 256,316
— (14,393) —
(53,725)  (50,056)  (56,535)
(44,052)  (8,577)  (6,867)
(97,777)  (73,026)  (63,402)
(167,975) (176,794) (168,103)
(89,187)  (84,129)  (80,303)
(4,496) (107) 1)
8,103 8,475 4211
33285 42,939 18,309
(220,270)  (209,616)  (225,977)
(3,041) 1,764 (2,738)
(11,871) 8,299  (35,801)
287,635 279336 315,137
$ 275,764 $ 287,635 $ 279,336
$ 315 $ 405 $ 536
$ 168,407 $ 136,023 $ 76,422
$ 0§ 5942 $ 2,466

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations. Robert Half International Inc. (the “Company”) provides specialized staffing and
risk consulting services through such divisions as Accountemps®, Robert Half® Finance & Accounting,
OfficeTeam®, Robert Half® Technology, Robert Half® Management Resources, Robert Half® Legal, The
Creative Group®, and Protiviti®. The Company, through its Accountemps, Robert Half Finance & Accounting,
and Robert Half Management Resources divisions, is a specialized provider of temporary, full-time, and project
professionals in the fields of accounting and finance. OfficeTeam specializes in highly skilled temporary
administrative support personnel. Robert Half Technology provides information technology professionals. Robert
Half Legal provides temporary, project, and full-time staffing of attorneys and specialized support personnel
within law firms and corporate legal departments. The Creative Group provides project staffing in the
advertising, marketing, and web design fields. Protiviti provides business consulting and internal audit services,
and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Revenues are predominantly derived from specialized staffing
services. The Company operates in North America, South America, Europe, Asia and Australia. The Company is
a Delaware corporation.

Basis of Presentation. The Consolidated Financial Statements (“Financial Statements”) of the Company
are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) and the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Principles of Consolidation. The Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned. All intercompany balances have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. As of December 31, 2013, such estimates included allowances for
uncollectible accounts receivable, workers’ compensation losses and income and other taxes. Management
estimates are also utilized in the Company’s goodwill impairment assessment and in the valuation of stock grants
subject to market conditions.

Revenue Recognition. The Company derives its revenues from three segments: temporary and consultant
staffing, permanent placement staffing, and risk consulting and internal audit services. Net service revenues as
presented on the Consolidated Statements of Operations represent services rendered to customers less sales
adjustments and allowances. Reimbursements, including those related to travel and out-of-pocket expenses, are
also included in net service revenues, and equivalent amounts of reimbursable expenses are included in direct
costs of services. The Company records revenue on a gross basis as a principal versus on a net basis as an agent
in the presentation of revenues and expenses. The Company has concluded that gross reporting is appropriate
because the Company (i) has the risk of identifying and hiring qualified employees, (ii) has the discretion to
select the employees and establish their price and duties and (iii) bears the risk for services that are not fully paid
for by customers.

Temporary and consultant staffing revenues—Temporary and consultant staffing revenues are recognized
when the services are rendered by the Company’s temporary employees. Employees placed on temporary
assignment by the Company are the Company’s legal employees while they are working on assignments. The
Company pays all related costs of employment, including workers’ compensation insurance, state and federal
unemployment taxes, social security and certain fringe benefits. The Company assumes the risk of acceptability
of its employees to its customers.

Permanent placement staffing revenues—Permanent placement staffing revenues are recognized when
employment candidates accept offers of permanent employment. The Company has a substantial history of
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

estimating the effect of permanent placement candidates who do not remain with its clients through the 90-day
guarantee period. Allowances are established to estimate these losses. Fees to clients are generally calculated as a
percentage of the new employee’s annual compensation. No fees for permanent placement services are charged
to employment candidates.

Risk consulting and internal audit revenues—Risk consulting and internal audit services are generally
provided on a time-and-material basis or fixed-fee basis. Revenues earned under time-and-material arrangements
are recognized as services are provided. Revenues on fixed-fee arrangements are recognized using a proportional
performance method as hours are incurred relative to total estimated hours for the engagement. The Company
periodically evaluates the need to provide for any losses on these projects, and losses are recognized when it is
probable that a loss will be incurred.

Costs of Services. Direct costs of temporary and consultant staffing services consist of payroll, payroll
taxes and insurance costs for the Company’s temporary employees, as well as reimbursable expenses. Direct
costs of permanent placement staffing services consist of reimbursable expenses. Risk consulting and internal
audit costs of services include professional staff payroll, payroll taxes and insurance costs, as well as
reimbursable expenses.

Advertising Costs. 'The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs for the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, are reflected in the following table (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Advertising Costs .. ..ottt $38,845  $42.256  $42,728

Comprehensive Income. Comprehensive income includes net income and certain other items that are
recorded directly to Stockholders’ Equity. The Company’s only source of other comprehensive income is foreign
currency translation adjustments.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The Company does not have any financial instruments which require
re-measurement to fair value. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued expenses represent fair value based upon their short-term nature.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity at the
date of purchase of three months or less as cash equivalents.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Goodwill and intangible assets primarily consist of the cost of acquired
companies in excess of the fair market value of their net tangible assets at the date of acquisition. Identifiable
intangible assets are amortized over their lives, typically ranging from two to five years. Goodwill is not amortized,
but is tested at least annually for impairment. The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment analysis as
of June 30 in each of the three years ended December 31, 2013, and determined that no adjustment to the carrying
value of goodwill was required. There were no events or changes in circumstances during the six months ended
December 31, 2013 that caused the Company to perform an interim impairment assessment.

Income Tax Assets and Liabilities. In establishing its deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the
Company makes judgments and interpretations based on the enacted tax laws and published tax guidance that are
applicable to its operations. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured and recorded using current enacted
tax rates, which the Company expects will apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are recovered or settled. The likelihood of a material change in the Company’s expected realization
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

of these assets is dependent on future taxable income, its ability to use foreign tax credit carryforwards and
carrybacks, final U.S. and foreign tax settlements, and the effectiveness of its tax planning strategies in the
various relevant jurisdictions.

The Company also evaluates the need for valuation allowances to reduce the deferred tax assets to realizable
amounts. Management evaluates all positive and negative evidence and uses judgment regarding past and future
events, including operating results, to help determine when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the
deferred tax assets may not be realized. When appropriate, a valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax
assets to offset future tax benefits that may not be realized. Valuation allowances of $37.0 million and $39.3 million
were recorded as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The valuation allowances recorded related
primarily to net operating losses in certain foreign operations. If such losses are ultimately utilized to offset future
operating income, the Company will recognize a tax benefit up to the full amount of the valuation reserve.

Workers’ Compensation. Except for states which require participation in state-operated insurance funds,
the Company retains the economic burden for the first $0.5 million per occurrence in workers’ compensation
claims. Workers’ compensation includes ongoing healthcare and indemnity coverage for claims and may be paid
over numerous years following the date of injury. Claims in excess of $0.5 million are insured. Workers’
compensation expense includes the insurance premiums for claims in excess of $0.5 million, claims
administration fees charged by the Company’s workers’ compensation administrator, premiums paid to state-
operated insurance funds, and an estimate for the Company’s liability for Incurred But Not Reported (“IBNR”)
claims and for the ongoing development of existing claims.

The reserves for IBNR claims and for the ongoing development of existing claims in each reporting period
includes estimates. The Company has established reserves for workers’ compensation claims using loss
development rates which are estimated using periodic third party actuarial valuations based upon historical loss
statistics which include the Company’s historical frequency and severity of workers’ compensation claims, and
an estimate of future cost trends. While management believes that its assumptions and estimates are appropriate,
significant differences in actual experience or significant changes in assumptions may materially affect the
Company’s future results.

Foreign Currency Translation. The results of operations of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are
translated at the monthly average exchange rates prevailing during the period. The financial position of the
Company’s foreign subsidiaries is translated at the current exchange rates at the end of the period, and the related
translation adjustments are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income within
Stockholders’” Equity. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included as a component
of selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, and have not been
material for all periods presented.

Stock-based Compensation. Under various stock plans, officers, employees and outside directors have
received or may receive grants of restricted stock, stock units, stock appreciation rights or options to purchase
common stock.

The Company recognizes compensation expense equal to the grant-date fair value for all stock-based
payment awards that are expected to vest. This expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period of the entire award, unless the awards are subject to performance conditions, in which case the
Company recognizes compensation expense over the requisite service period of each separate vesting tranche.
The Company determines the grant-date fair value of its restricted stock and stock unit awards using the fair
market value of its stock on the grant date, unless the awards are subject to market conditions, in which case the
Company utilizes a binomial-lattice model (i.e., Monte Carlo simulation model). The Monte Carlo simulation
model utilizes multiple input variables to determine the stock-based compensation expense.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

No stock appreciation rights have been granted under the Company’s existing stock plans.

The Company determines the fair value of options to purchase common stock using the Black-Scholes
valuation model. The Company recognizes expense over the service period for options that are expected to vest
and records adjustments to compensation expense at the end of the service period if actual forfeitures differ from
original estimates. The Company has not granted any options to purchase common stock since 2006.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation expense is computed
using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Computer hardware . .......... .. it 2 to 3 years
Computer SOftware . ......... ..ttt 2 to 5 years
Furniture and equipment . .. ... 5 years
Leasehold improvements . ........... ...ttt Term of lease,

5 years maximum

Internal-use Software. The Company capitalizes direct costs incurred in the development of internal-use
software. Amounts capitalized are reported as a component of computer software within property and equipment.
Internal-use software development costs capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, are
reflected in the following table (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Internal-use software development costs .............. $13,027  $19,083  $18,133

Note B—New Accounting Pronouncements

Balance Sheet Disclosures. In December 2011, the Financial Standards Board (“FASB”) issued authoritative
guidance in regards to the presentation of netting assets and liabilities related to financial and derivative instruments
as a single amount in the statement of financial position to address the difference between GAAP and international
financial reporting standards (“IFRS”). This authoritative guidance is to be applied for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods within those annual periods. The adoption of this
guidance as of March 31, 2013, did not have an impact on the Company’s Financial Statements.

Comprehensive Income. In March 2013, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in regards to
comprehensive income and reporting amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income to
improve the transparency of reporting these reclassifications. Other comprehensive income which included gains
and losses that are initially excluded from net income for an accounting period would need to be presented either
on the face of the statement where net income is presented or in the notes. This authoritative guidance is to be
applied for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2012. The adoption of this guidance as of
March 31, 2013, did not have an impact on the Company’s Financial Statements.

Income Taxes. In September 2013, the FASB issued authoritative guidance in regards to the presentation
of unrecognized tax benefits when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit
carryforward exists. The amendment states that an unrecognized tax benefit or a portion of the unrecognized tax
benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating
loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. This authoritative guidance is to be applied for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013. The Company does not
expect that the adoption of this guidance will have a material impact on its Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Note C—Other Current Assets

Other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2013 2012
Deposits in trusts for employee benefits and retirement plans . . . .. $149,391  $ 97,535
Other ... .. 82,587 63,670

$231,978  $161,205

Deposits in trusts for employee benefits increased for the year ended December 31, 2013 due to changes in
the Company’s broad-based Deferred Salary Savings Plan (the “Plan”) whereby previously unfunded employee
accrual accounts were funded so that employees could direct the investments in their accounts. The Company’s
executive officers do not participate in the Plan.

Note D—Goodwill

The following table sets forth the activity in goodwill from December 31, 2011, through December 31, 2013
(in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2011 . ... ... . $189,423
ACQUISILIONS . . o .ottt et e 11,454
Foreign currency translation adjustments ........................... 462

Balance as of December 31,2012 .. ... ... $201,339
ACQUISILIONS . oo vttt e e 13
Foreign currency translation adjustments ........................... (519)

Balance as of December 31,2013 . ... ... . $200,833

In December 2012 the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Protiviti, acquired SusQtech, Inc., a
provider of Microsoft SharePoint implementation, design and integration services. As part of the acquisition, the
Company recorded goodwill of $10 million within its risk consulting and internal audit services segment.

Note E—Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012
Computer hardware ..............c.ouiiiieiinneeennennn. $ 148,541  $ 132,331
Computer SOftware .. .........oouinirnn ... 288,532 269,917
Furniture and equipment . . ........... .. .. .. .. ... ..., 111,426 114,623
Leasehold improvements . ............. ... .. ... ..., 118,868 122,060
Other ... 11,488 12,884
Property and equipment, cost ........... .. .. .. ... 678,855 651,815
Accumulated depreciation . .......... ... oo (566,211) (544,135)
Property and equipment, net . .. ........... i $ 112,644 $ 107,680
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Note F—Accrued Payroll Costs and Retirement Obligations

Accrued payroll costs and retirement obligations consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012
Payroll and benefits .. ......... ... .. .. ... .. ... $238,252  $196,569
Employee retirement obligations ................. ... ... ... 96,461 92,233
Workers’ compensation . .. ...t 26,671 28,595
Payroll taxes .. ... ...t 34,658 44,244

$396,042  $361,641

Included in employee retirement obligations is the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2013 2012

Deferred compensation plan and other benefits related to the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer ... ...................... $75,745  $74,155

Note G—Notes Payable and Other Indebtedness

The Company issued promissory notes as well as other forms of indebtedness in connection with certain
acquisitions and other payment obligations. These are due in varying installments, carry varying interest rates
and, in aggregate, amounted to $1.4 million at December 31, 2013, and $1.5 million at December 31, 2012. At
December 31, 2013, $1.4 million of the notes were collateralized by a standby letter of credit. The following
table shows the schedule of maturities for notes payable and other indebtedness at December 31, 2013 (in
thousands):

200 $ 128
200 140
2000 153
2007 167
2008 183
Thereafter . ... ... 657

$1,428

At December 31, 2013, the notes carried fixed rates and the weighted average interest rate for the above was
9.0% for each of the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

The Company has an uncommitted letter of credit facility (the “facility”) of up to $35.0 million, which is
available to cover the issuance of debt support standby letters of credit. The Company had used $18.6 million in
debt support standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2013 and $19.7 million as of December 31, 2012. Of
the debt support standby letters of credit outstanding, $17.1 million as of December 31, 2013 and $18.1 million
as of December 31, 2012, satisfies workers’ compensation insurer’s collateral requirements. There is a service
fee of 1.125% on the used portion of the facility. The facility is subject to certain financial covenants and expires
on August 31, 2014. The Company intends to renew this facility prior to its August 31, 2014 expiration.
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Note H—Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, consisted

of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Current:

Federal ........... ... .. .. ... ... . ........ $114,687 $ 99,354 $ 48,068

State .. ... 27,358 24,339 11,969

Foreign ........ .. .. .. .. ... .. .. .. 16,598 25,603 23,101
Deferred:

Federal andstate . ......................... (7,759) (15,188) 15,117

Foreign ........ .. .. .. .. ... .. .. .. (5,500) 195 2,039

$145,384  $134,303  $100,294

Income before the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,

consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
DOmeStC . . oo vt $357,382  $286,537  $202,210
Foreign ........... i 40,197 57,708 48,006

$397,579  $344,245  $250,216

The income taxes shown above varied from the statutory federal income tax rates for these periods as

follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Federal U.S.income taxrate ..................uiriiuinnn.n. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit .................. 4.3 4.0 3.4
Non-deductible eXpenses . .. .........ouiriiinrnennennan.. 0.7 0.8 1.3
Non-U.S. income taxed at different rates, net of foreign tax
CIEditS .« . oot e (1.0) 0.7 2.2
Federal tax credits . ......... ... i (1.3) (0.3) (1.2
Tax impact of uncertain tax positions ........................ 0.1 (1.2) (0.4
Valuation allowance release, net ............................ (1.0) — —
Other, Net .. ... 0.2) — 0.2)
Effective tax rate ... ... ...ttt 36.6% 39.0% 40.1%
35
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Note H—Income Taxes (Continued)

The deferred portion of the tax provision (benefit) consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Amortization of franchise rights ................... $ 514 $ 514 $ 514
Amortization of other intangibles .................. 621 1,180 1,142
Accrued expenses, deducted for tax when paid . ....... (11,190) (13,494) (2,076)
Capitalized costs for books, deducted fortax ......... 3,019 7,395 7,448
Depreciation . ...t (2,597) (7,813) (1,709)
Federal impact of unrecognized tax benefits .. ........ (274) 478 331
Foreign tax credit carryforwards ................... (3,449) — 5,719
Other, net . ... .o 97 (3,253) 5,787

$(13,259) $(14,993) $17,156

The deferred income tax amounts included on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position are
composed of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2013 2012
Current deferred income tax assets,net ...................... $112,881  $102,993
Long-term deferred income tax liabilities, net ................. (10,601) (14,244)
$102,280 $ 88,749

The components of the deferred income tax amounts at December 31, 2013 and 2012, were as follows (in

thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012
Deferred Income Tax Assets
Provision forbad debts . ........ ... $ 8012 $ 7,585
Employee retirement and other benefit obligations ......... 72,227 62,637
Workers’ compensation . .. ..., 9,538 10,007
Deferred compensation .. ..............c.iiiiii.. 12,067 10,895
Credits and net operating loss carryforwards .............. 49,556 48,609
Other ... 25,953 23,781
Total deferred income tax assets .. ..........ovvnnnn.. 177,353 163,514
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities
Amortization of intangible assets ....................... (23,305) (22,169)
Property and equipment basis differences . ................ (8,098) (8,029)
Other ... (6,626) (5,257)
Total deferred income tax liabilities ..................... (38,029) (35,455)
Valuation allowance . ................ ..o . (37,044) (39,310)
Total deferred income tax assets, D€t .. .........o.euueeneun... $102,280 $ 88,749

Credits and net operating loss carryforwards primarily include net operating losses in foreign countries of
$37.3 million that expire in 2014 and later; foreign tax credits of $3.4 million that expire in 2023; and California
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Note H—Income Taxes (Continued)

enterprise zone tax credits of $6.3 million that expire in 2023. New legislation passed by the State of California
in 2013 limits the carryforward period on the enterprise zone credits to 10 years; therefore, the company expects
that it will utilize $3.2 million of these credits prior to expiration.

The Company has not provided deferred income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on $2.8 million and
$2.2 million of undistributed earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, since the Company intends to reinvest these earnings indefinitely. The U.S. tax impact upon
repatriation, net of foreign tax credits, would be zero for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

FASB authoritative guidance prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute criteria for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
The literature also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in
interim periods, disclosure and transition.

The following table reconciles the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits from January 1, 2011 to
December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of period ...................... $ 7,097 $11,669  $12,505
Gross increases—tax positions in prior years . . .. ... 559 352 564
Gross decreases—tax positions in prior years ... ... (369) (273) (1,061)
Gross increases—tax positions in current year . . . . . . 38 42 40
Settlements ..............0. it — (252) (111)
Lapse of statute of limitations . .................. (1,215) (4,441) (268)
Balance atend of period ............... ... .. ....... $6,110 $ 7,097 $11,669

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate is
$1.3 million, $1.0 million and $2.7 million for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Company’s continuing practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in
income tax expense. The total amount of interest and penalties accrued as of December 31, 2013, is $2.8 million,
including a $0.3 million reduction recorded in income tax expense during the year. The total amount of interest
and penalties accrued as of December 31, 2012, was $3.1 million, including a $2.3 million reduction recorded in
income tax expense during the year. The total amount of interest and penalties accrued as of December 31, 2011,
was $5.3 million, including a $0.3 million increase recorded in income tax expense during the year.

The Company believes it is reasonably possible that the settlement of certain tax uncertainties could occur
within the next twelve months; accordingly, $2.2 million of the unrecognized gross tax benefit has been
classified as a current liability as of December 31, 2013. This amount primarily represents unrecognized tax
benefits composed of items related to assessed state income tax audits and negotiations.

The Company’s major income tax jurisdictions are the United States, Australia, Belgium, Canada and
Germany. For U.S. federal income tax, the Company remains subject to examination for 2010 and subsequent
years. For major U.S. states, with few exceptions, the Company remains subject to examination for 2009 and
subsequent years. Generally, for the foreign countries, the Company remains subject to examination for 2006 and
subsequent years.
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Note I—Commitments and Contingencies

Rental expense, primarily for office premises, amounted to $92.7 million, $96.8 million and $100.6 million
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The approximate minimum rental
commitments for 2014 and thereafter under non-cancelable leases in effect at December 31, 2013 were as follows
(in thousands):

2004 $ 88,434
200 76,248
2006 56,150
2007 43,984
2008 30,629
Thereafter . .. ... 86,276

$381,721

Additionally, as of December 31, 2013, the Company had future purchase commitments of approximately
$55 million over the next three years primarily related to telecom service agreements, software licenses and
subscriptions, and computer hardware and software maintenance agreements.

On April 23, 2010, Plaintiffs David Opalinski and James McCabe, on behalf of themselves and a putative
class of similarly situated Staffing Managers, filed a Complaint in the United States District Court for the District
of New Jersey naming the Company and one of its subsidiaries as Defendants. The Complaint alleges that
salaried Staffing Managers located throughout the U.S. have been misclassified as exempt from the Fair Labor
Standards Act’s overtime pay requirements. Plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount for unpaid overtime on behalf
of themselves and the class they purport to represent. Plaintiffs also seek an unspecified amount for statutory
penalties, attorneys’ fees and other damages. On October 6, 2011, the Court granted the Company’s motion to
compel arbitration of the Plaintiffs’ allegations. At this stage, it is not feasible to predict the outcome of or a
range of loss, should a loss occur, from these allegations and, accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the
Company’s financial statements. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the allegations, and the
Company intends to continue to vigorously defend against the allegations.

The Company is involved in a number of other lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business. While
management does not expect any of these other matters to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
results of operations, financial position or cash flows, litigation is subject to certain inherent uncertainties.

Legal costs associated with the resolution of claims, lawsuits and other contingencies are expensed as
incurred.

Note J—Stockholders’ Equity

Stock Repurchase Program. As of December 31, 2013, the Company is authorized to repurchase, from
time to time, up to 8.1 million additional shares of the Company’s common stock on the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions, depending on market conditions. The number and the cost of common stock
shares repurchased during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, are reflected in the following
table (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Common stock repurchased (in shares) ............ 3,305 4,689 5,308
Common stock repurchased ..................... $117,864  $132,601  $141,552
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Additional stock repurchases were made in connection with employee stock plans, whereby Company
shares were tendered by employees for the payment of exercise price and applicable statutory withholding taxes.
The number and the cost of employee stock plan repurchases made during the years ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, are reflected in the following table (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Employee stock plan repurchased (in shares) .......... 1,157 1,661 1,020
Employee stock plan repurchased ................... $44,169  $50,045  $29,017

The repurchased shares are held in treasury and are presented as if constructively retired. Treasury stock is
accounted for using the cost method. Treasury stock activity for each of the three years ended December 31,
2013, (consisting of stock option exercises and the purchase of shares for the treasury) is presented in the
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity.

Cash Dividends. The Company’s Board of Directors may at their discretion declare and pay dividends upon
the shares of the Company’s stock either out of the Company’s retained earnings or capital surplus. The cash
dividends declared during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, are reflected in the following table:

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Cash dividends declared pershare .. ........... ... ... ... .... $.64 $060 $.56

Repurchases of shares and issuances of cash dividends are applied first to the extent of retained earnings and
any remaining amounts are applied to capital surplus. As a result, the Company had $13.3 million in retained
earnings as of December 31, 2013 and no retained earnings as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Note K—Stock Plans

Under various stock plans, officers, employees, and outside directors have received or may receive grants of
restricted stock, stock units, stock appreciation rights or options to purchase common stock. Grants have been
made at the discretion of the Committees of the Board of Directors. Grants generally vest over four years. Shares
offered under the plan are authorized but unissued shares or treasury shares.

Options currently outstanding under the plans have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock at the date of grant and consist of non-statutory stock options under the Internal
Revenue Code, and generally have a term of 10 years.

Recipients of restricted stock do not pay any cash consideration to the Company for the shares, have the
right to vote all shares subject to such grant, and for grants made prior to July 28, 2009, receive all dividends
with respect to such shares on the dividend payment dates, whether or not the shares have vested as long as any
performance condition has been met. Restricted stock grants made on or after July 28, 2009, contain forfeitable
rights to dividends. Dividends for these grants are accrued on the dividend payment dates but are not paid until
the shares vest, and dividends accrued for shares that ultimately do not vest are forfeited. Recipients of stock
units do not pay any cash consideration for the units, do not have the right to vote, and do not receive dividends
with respect to such units. Compensation expense for restricted stock and stock units is generally recognized on
either a 3 year cliff basis or 4 year straight line basis, based on the stock’s fair market value on the grant date. For
restricted stock grants issued with performance conditions, compensation expense is recognized over each
vesting tranche.

FASB authoritative guidance requires that excess tax benefits be recognized as an addition to capital surplus
and that unrealized tax benefits be recognized as income tax expense unless there are excess tax benefits from
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Note K—Stock Plans (Continued)

previous equity awards to which it can be offset. The Company calculates the amount of eligible excess tax
benefits that are available to offset future tax shortfalls in accordance with the long-form method described in the
FASB authoritative guidance.

The Company determines the fair value of options to purchase common stock using the Black-Scholes
valuation model. The Company recognizes expense over the service period for options that are expected to vest
and records adjustments to compensation expense at the end of the service period if actual forfeitures differ from
original estimates. The Company has not granted any options to purchase common stock since 2006.

The Company recognizes compensation expense equal to the grant-date fair value for all stock-based
payment awards that are expected to vest. This expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period of the entire award, unless the awards are subject to performance conditions, in which case the
Company recognizes compensation expense over the requisite service period of each separate vesting tranche.
The Company determines the grant-date fair value of its restricted stock and stock unit awards using the fair
market value on the grant date, unless the awards are subject to market conditions, in which case the Company
utilizes a binomial-lattice model (i.e., Monte Carlo simulation model). The Monte Carlo simulation model
utilizes multiple input variables to determine the stock-based compensation expense.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company granted performance shares to its executives in the
form of restricted stock. The shares granted contain (1) a performance condition based on target net income per
share, and (2) a market condition based on Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”). The TSR market condition
measures the Company’s performance against a peer group. Shares will be delivered at the end of the three year
vesting and TSR performance period based on the Company’s actual performance compared to the peer group.
Actual shares earned will range from fifty percent (50%) to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the target award
after any adjustment made for the performance condition. The fair value of this award was determined using a
Monte Carlo simulation with the following assumptions: an historical volatility of 32.23%, 0% dividend yield
and a risk-free interest rate of 0.36%. The historical volatility was based on the most recent 2.61-year period for
the Company and the components of the peer group. The stock price projection for the Company and the
components of the peer group assumes a 0% dividend yield. This is mathematically equivalent to reinvesting
dividends in the issuing entity over the performance period. The risk-free interest rate is equal to the yield, as of
the measurement date, of the zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bill that is commensurate with the remaining
performance measurement period.

Stock-based compensation expense consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Restricted stock and stock units ..................... $38,867 $41,464  $50,906

Total unrecognized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, consisted of the following (in
thousands):

December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Restricted stock and stock units . .................... $53,646  $51,877  $54,419

The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over the next four years.
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Note K—Stock Plans (Continued)

The following table reflects activity under all stock plans from December 31, 2010 through December 31,
2013, and the weighted average exercise prices (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Restricted Stock Plans Restricted Stock Plans

without Market-Condition  with Market-Condition Stock Option Plans
Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Number of  Average  Number of Weighted
Shares/ Grant Date Shares/ Grant Date Shares/ Average Exercise
Units Fair Value Units Fair Value Units Price Per Share
Outstanding, December 31, 2010 . . . 3,996 $23.44 — — 5,316 $22.04
Granted ................... 879 $31.18 523 $33.42 — —
Exercised ................. — — — — (806) $22.73
Restrictions lapsed .......... (2,389) $25.27 — — — —
Forfeited .................. (94) $23.09 — — (60) $26.05
Outstanding, December 31, 2011 . .. 2,392 $24.47 523 $33.42 4,450 $21.85
Granted ................... 937 $27.71 517 $29.53 — —
Exercised ................. — — — — (2,260) $19.00
Restrictions lapsed .......... (1,550) $22.20 (240) $33.42 — —
Forfeited .................. 42) $24.26 42) $33.42 99) $24.74
Outstanding, December 31,2012 . .. 1,737 $28.25 758 $30.77 2,091 $24.80
Granted ................... 688 $35.34 400 $43.04 — —
Exercised ................. — — — — (1,397) $23.82
Restrictions lapsed .......... (1,087) $28.53 (259) $29.53 — —
Forfeited .................. 1) $31.29 — — (62) $20.48
Outstanding, December 31, 2013 . .. 1,317 $31.68 899 $36.58 632 $27.41

The total pre-tax intrinsic value of stock options exercised and the total fair value of shares vested during the
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, are reflected in the following table (in thousands):

Total pre-tax intrinsic value of stock options exercised . . .
Total fair value of shares vested ... ..................

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
$17,092  $23,678 $ 6,429
$53,931 $55,186  $67,076

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31,

2013 (in thousands, except number of years and per share amounts):

Options Outstanding and Exercisable

Number Weighted
Outstanding Average Weighted
and Exercisable as of Remaining Average  Aggregate
Range of December 31, Contractual Exercise Intrinsic
Exercise Prices 2013 Life Price Value
$23.49 to $26.12 163 1.09 $25.82  $2,639
$26.13 to $26.13 11 0.30 $26.13 173
$26.56 to $26.56 239 0.82 $26.56 3,688
$27.36 to $33.89 219 1.06 $29.58 2,717
632 0.97 $2741  $9.217
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Note K—Stock Plans (Continued)

The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value, based on the
Company’s closing stock price of $41.99 as of December 31, 2013, which would have been received by the
option holders had they exercised their in-the-money options as of that date.

At December 31, 2013, the total number of available shares to grant under the plans (consisting of either
restricted stock, stock units, stock appreciation rights or options to purchase common stock) was approximately
2.3 million. All of the 0.6 million options outstanding at December 31, 2013, were exercisable with a weighted
average exercise price of $27.41.

Note L—Net Income Per Share

The calculation of net income per share for the three years ended December 31, 2013 is reflected in the
following table (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Basic net income per share:
Netincome ...........oouiiniinninnen..n. $252,195  $209,942  $149,922
Income allocated to participating securities . . . . . 3 1,081 2,159
Net income available to common
stockholders ............ ... . ... ... ..... $252,192  $208,861  $147,763
Basic weighted average shares .. ............. 136,153 138,201 140,479
Basic net income pershare . ................. $ 18 $ 151 $ 1.05
Diluted net income per share:
Netincome ...........cooieinieineennenn... $252,195  $209,942  $149,922
Income allocated to participating securities . . . . . 3 1,075 2,150
Net income available to common
stockholders . ........... ... ... ... ... .. $252,192  $208,867  $147,772
Basic weighted average shares .. ............. 136,153 138,201 140,479
Dilutive effect of potential common shares . . . .. 1,436 1,208 1,311
Diluted weighted average shares ............. 137,589 139,409 141,790
Diluted net income per share ................ $ 18 $ 150 §$ 1.04

Potential common shares include the dilutive effect of stock options, unvested performance-based restricted
stock, restricted stock which contains forfeitable rights to dividends, and stock units. The weighted average
diluted common shares outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, excludes the effect
of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Total number of anti-dilutive potential common shares ............ — 227 475
Employee stock options will have a dilutive effect under the treasury method only when the respective
period’s average market value of the Company’s common stock exceeds the exercise proceeds. Under the

treasury method, exercise proceeds include the amount the employee must pay for exercising stock options, the
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Note L—Net Income Per Share (Continued)

amount of compensation cost for future service that the Company has not yet recognized, and the amount of tax
benefits that would be recorded in capital surplus, if the options were exercised and the stock units and
performance-based restricted stock had vested.

Note M—Business Segments

The Company, which aggregates its operating segments based on the nature of services, has three reportable
segments: temporary and consultant staffing, permanent placement staffing, and risk consulting and internal audit
services. The temporary and consultant segment provides specialized staffing in the accounting and finance,
administrative and office, information technology, legal, advertising, marketing and web design fields. The
permanent placement segment provides full-time personnel in the accounting, finance, administrative and office,
and information technology fields. The risk consulting segment provides business and technology risk consulting
and internal audit services.

The accounting policies of the segments are set forth in Note A—Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies. The Company evaluates performance based on income or loss from operations before net interest
income, intangible amortization expense, and income taxes.

The following table provides a reconciliation of revenue and operating income by reportable segment to
consolidated results (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Net service revenues
Temporary and consultant staffing ....... $3,369,840  $3,324,286  $3,050,999
Permanent placement staffing . .......... 347,715 334,198 302,155
Risk consulting and internal audit
SEIVICES vt vt ei i i 528,340 452,729 423,822

$4,245.895  $4,111,213  $3,776,976

Operating income

Temporary and consultant staffing ....... $ 301,185 $ 276,826 $ 209,101
Permanent placement staffing ........... 54,390 55,745 35,340
Risk consulting and internal audit

SEIVICES o vt e et et 42,702 10,875 4,977
398,277 343,446 249418

Amortization of intangible assets ............ 1,700 398 153
Interest income, net . ...................... (1,002) (1,197) 951)
Income before income taxes . ............... $ 397,579 $ 344,245 $ 250,216
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Note M—Business Segments (Continued)

The Company does not report total assets by segment. The following tables represent identifiable assets by
business segment (in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Accounts receivable
Temporary and consultant staffing . ........... $349,364  $336,468  $342,122
Permanent placement staffing ............... 100,550 88,436 75,333
Risk consulting and internal audit services .. ... 129,252 112,800 98,499

$579,166  $537,704  $515,954

December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Goodwill
Temporary and consultant staffing . ........... $134,692  $134,756  $134,507
Permanent placement staffing ............... 26,574 26,586 26,545
Risk consulting and internal audit services .. ... 39,567 39,997 28,371

$200,833  $201,339  $189,423

The Company operates internationally, with operations in North America, South America, Europe, Asia and
Australia. The following tables represent revenues and long-lived assets by geographic location (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Net service revenues
Domestic ............ ... .. . $3,219,820  $3,022,274  $2,655,443
Foreign .......... .. .. .. .. ... .. .. ... 1,026,075 1,088,939 1,121,533

$4,245,895  $4,111,213  $3,776,976

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Assets, long-lived
DOmMEStiC .« ovvveee e $ 92252 $ 86239 $ 87,146
Foreign .......... ... ... .. .. .. ..., 20,392 21,441 20,826

$ 112,644 $ 107,680 $ 107,972
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Note N—Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tabulation shows certain quarterly financial data for 2013 and 2012 (in thousands, except per

share amounts):

Quarter

2013 1 2 3 4
Net service revenues ............. $1,023,684 $1,063,228  $1,075,119 $1,083,864
Gross margin . .................. $ 410,290 $ 432,108 $ 437,478 $ 443216
Income before income taxes . ...... $ 89376 $ 100,596 $ 103,713 $ 103,894
Netincome .................... $ 55863 $ 63,08 $ 66358 $ 66,885
Net income available to common

stockholders - diluted .......... $ 55861 $ 63,088 $ 66358 $ 66,885
Basic net income per share ........ $ 41 3 46 S 49§ 49
Diluted net income per share . . .. ... $ 40 S 46 S 48 8 49

Quarter

2012 1 2 3 4
Net service revenues ............. $1,015,444  $1,028,383  $1,033,173 $1,034,213
Gross margin ................... $ 402,083 $ 415303 $ 415249 $ 416,425
Income before income taxes ....... $ 80,264 $ 72272(a)$ 94467 $ 97,242
Netincome .................... $ 48334 $§ 45329a) $ 57,660 $ 58,619
Net income available to common

stockholders - diluted .......... $ 48070 $ 45,101 $ 57,383 $ 58,322
Basic net income per share ........ $ 34 3 33 3 428 43
Diluted net income per share . . .. ... $ 34 % 32(a) $ 41 % 42

(a) The decrease in second quarter 2012 income before income taxes, net income, and net income per
share was primarily due to a charge related to a litigation settlement disclosed in the Company’s
July 5, 2012, Form 8-K. The settlement resulted in a non-recurring $19.0 million pre-tax charge to
selling, general and administrative expenses and reduced second quarter net income and net
income per share by $11.4 million and $0.08 per share, respectively.

Note O—Subsequent Events
On February 11, 2014 the Company announced the following:

Quarterly dividend pershare ................................
Declarationdate . ............. .. i
Recorddate ......... ... .
Paymentdate .......... ... ... ...
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February 11, 2014
February 25, 2014
March 14, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Robert Half International Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1)
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Robert Half International Inc. and its subsidiaries
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index
appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read
in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these
financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing in Item 9A. Our responsibility is
to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Francisco, California
February 14, 2014
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Management, including the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer and the Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon
that evaluation, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports the Company files and submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive
and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There have been no changes in the Company’s internal
controls over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that occurred during the Company’s fourth quarter that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Management is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, using criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and concluded
that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies and procedures may deteriorate.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, has

been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in
their report which is included herein.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Except as provided below in this Part III, the information required by Items 10 through 14 of Part III is
incorporated by reference from Item 1 of this Report and from the registrant’s Proxy Statement, under the
captions “Nomination and Election of Directors,” “Beneficial Stock Ownership,” “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis,” “Compensation Tables,” “Corporate Governance,” “The Board and Committees” and
“Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” which Proxy Statement will be mailed to stockholders in
connection with the registrant’s annual meeting of stockholders which is scheduled to be held in May 2014.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities

Number of securities remaining available for
to be issued upon Weighted average future issuance under
exercise of exercise price of equity compensation plans
outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
warrants and rights  warrants and rights reflected in column A)
Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders ......... ... .. ... ... 387,725 $27.30 2,291,989
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders(a) . ..................... 244,319 $27.57 0
Total ... ... 632,044 $27.41 2,291,989

(a) These plans, by their terms, expressly prohibited any grants to directors or executive officers. All such plans
were terminated in May 2005, and no future grants may be made under such plans. The information in the
table reflects shares issuable upon the exercise of options granted before such plans were terminated.

Since May 2005, all grants have been made pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan, which was approved by
stockholders in May 2005 and re-approved in May 2008, May 2011, and May 2013. Such plan authorizes the
issuance of stock options, restricted stock, stock units and stock appreciation rights to directors, executive
officers and employees.

Description of Equity Plans Not Approved by Stockholders
All of the following plans were terminated in May 2005. No future grants may be made under any of these
plans.

StockPlus Plan. The StockPlus Plan authorized the grant of stock options to employees other than
directors and executive officers. No option could have a term of more than ten years.

Stock Option Plan for Field Employees. The Stock Option Plan for Field Employees authorized the grant

of stock options to employees or consultants other than directors and executive officers. No option could have a
term of more than ten years.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1.

Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are included in Item 8
of this report:

Consolidated statements of financial position at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.
Consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.
Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.
Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011.

Notes to consolidated financial statements.

Report of independent registered public accounting firm.

Selected quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are set forth in
Note N—Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) included in Item 8 of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Schedules I, III, IV and V have been omitted as they are not applicable.
3. Exhibits
Exhibit
No. Exhibit
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2009.
3.2 By-Laws, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.
4.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant (filed as Exhibit 3.1).
*10.1 Form of Power of Attorney and Indemnification Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
2002.
*10.2 Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Harold M. Messmer, Jr., incorporated by

reference to (i) Exhibit 10.(c) to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1985, (ii) Exhibit 10.2(b) to Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(No. 33-15171), (iii) Exhibit 10.2(c) to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 1987, (iv) Exhibit 10.2(d) to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1988, (v) Exhibit 28.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 1990, (vi) Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1991, (vii) Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 1993, (viii) Exhibit
10.7 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993,
(ix) Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
March 31, 1995, (x) Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 1995, (xi) Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
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Exhibit
No.

Exhibit

*10.3

*10.4

*10.5

*10.6

*10.7

*10.8

*10.9

*10.10

*10.11

*10.12

*10.13

*10.14

*10.15

*10.16

fiscal year ended December 31, 1996, (xii) Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997, (xiii) Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, (xiv) Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, (xv) Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2004,
(xvi) Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
June 30, 2008, and (xvii) Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2010.

Amended and Restated Retirement Agreement between Registrant and Harold M. Messmer Jr.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
December 7, 2006.

Outside Directors’ Option Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004.

Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2000.

Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2008.

Amended and Restated Severance Agreement dated as of February 9, 2011, between Registrant and
Paul F. Gentzkow, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.

Agreement dated as of July 31, 1995, between Registrant and Paul F. Gentzkow, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2000.

Form of Amended and Restated Severance Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to
(i) Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1989 and (ii) Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1993.

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Executive Officers of Registrant, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2000.

Senior Executive Retirement Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Registrant’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.

Collateral Assignment of Split Dollar Insurance Agreement, incorporated by reference to (i) Exhibit
10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
2000, and (ii) Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2003.

Form of Part-Time Employment Agreement, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March
31, 2009.

StockPlus Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.

Annual Performance Bonus Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1
to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 23, 2013.
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Exhibit

No. Exhibit
*10.17 Stock Option Plan for Field Employees, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.
*10.18 Equity Incentive Plan—Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 21, 2004.
*10.19 Equity Incentive Plan—Form of Stock Option Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3
to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 21, 2004.
*10.20 Outside Directors’ Option Plan—Form of Stock Option Agreement, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 21, 2004.
*10.21 Summary of Outside Director Cash Remuneration, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2010.
*10.22 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 23, 2013.
*10.23 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Executive Officers effective
April 15, 2013, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2013.
*10.24 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Executive Officers effective through
April 14, 2013, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated May 3, 2005.
*10.25 Amendment to Restricted Share Agreement dated as of May 9, 2012, between Registrant and Harold
M. Messmer, Jr., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2012.
*10.26 Form of Amendment to Restricted Share Agreement dated as of May 9, 2012, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
June 30, 2012.
*10.27 Form of Amendment to Restricted Share Agreement dated as of November 8, 2012, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2012.
*10.28 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of Stock Option Agreement for Executive Officers, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.4 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 3, 2005.
*10.29 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of Restricted Share Agreement for Outside Directors, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
March 31, 2006.
*10.30 Stock Incentive Plan—Form of Stock Option Agreement for Outside Directors, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.6 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 3, 2005.
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
23.1 Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Consent.
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
32.1 Rule 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
322 Rule 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
101.1 Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K formatted in XBRL.

*  Management contract or compensatory plan.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC.
(Registrant)

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ M. KEITH WADDELL

M. Keith Waddell
Vice Chairman, President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ HAROLD M. MESSMER, JR.

Harold M. Messmer, Jr.
Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer,
and a Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ ANDREW S. BERWICK, JR.
Andrew S. Berwick, Jr., Director

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ BARBARA J. NOVOGRADAC
Barbara J. Novogradac, Director

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ ROBERT J. PACE
Robert J. Pace, Director

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ FREDERICK A. RICHMAN
Frederick A. Richman, Director

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ M. KEITH WADDELL
M. Keith Waddell
Vice Chairman, President,
Chief Financial Officer and a Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 14, 2014 By: /s/ MICHAEL C. BUCKLEY

Michael C. Buckley
Executive Vice President and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(in thousands)

Balance at
Beginning of Charged to Translation Balance at
Period Expenses  Deductions Adjustments End of Period
Year Ended December 31, 2011
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable ........................ $21,569 6,673 (4,370) (1,245) $22,627
Deferred tax valuation allowance ........ $30,983 7,745 (2,308) (86) $36,334
Year Ended December 31, 2012
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable ........................ $22,627 7,133 (3,845) (1,063) $24,852
Deferred tax valuation allowance . ....... $36,334 6,558 (2,774) (808) $39,310
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable ........................ $24.,852 7,467 (4,313) (745) $27,261
Deferred tax valuation allowance . ....... $39,310 7,053 (8,135) (1,184) $37,044
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EXHIBIT 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF ROBERT HALF INTERNATIONAL INC.

Jurisdiction of

Name of Subsidiary Incorporation
RH Holding Company, Inc. California
Benchmark Staffing Inc. California
BMK Resources, Inc. California
Robert Half of California, Inc. California
Robert Half Staffing, LLC California
Robert Half Temporaries, Inc. California
Jersey Temporaries, Inc. Delaware
Protiviti Inc. Delaware
Protiviti Holdings Inc. Delaware
RH-TM Resources, Inc. Delaware
Protiviti Government Services, Inc. Maryland
Penta Advisory Services, LLC Maryland
Robert Half Corporation Nevada
Robert Half Nevada Staff, Inc. Nevada
Robert Half of Pennsylvania, Inc. Pennsylvania
Protiviti Pty. Limited Australia
Robert Half Australia Pty. Limited Australia
Robert Half Austria GmbH Austria
Protiviti BVBA Belgium
Robert Half BVBA Belgium
Robert Half Consulting Services BVBA Belgium
Robert Half Trabalho Temporario Ltda. Brazil
Protiviti EOOD Bulgaria
Robert Half Canada Inc. Canada
Robert Half Internacional Empresa De Servicios Transitorios Limitada Chile
Protiviti Shanghai Co. Ltd. China
Robert Half Human Resources Shanghai Company Limited China

Robert Half Hong Kong Limited

Protiviti Hong Kong Co. Limited

Robert Half Czech Republic, s.r.o.

Protiviti SAS

Robert Half International France SAS

Robert Half SAS

Protiviti GmbH

Robert Half Deutschland Beteiligungsgesellschaft GmbH
Robert Half Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG

China, Hong Kong SAR
China, Hong Kong SAR
Czech Republic

France

France

France

Germany

Germany

Germany
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Jurisdiction of

Name of Subsidiary Incorporation
Protiviti Consulting Private Limited India

PI Advisory Private Limited India

Robert Half Ireland Limited Ireland
Protiviti S.r.1. Italy

Robert Half S.r.1. Italy
Protiviti LLC Japan

Robert Half Japan Ltd. Japan

Robert Half Sarl Luxembourg
Robert Half Holding Sarl Luxembourg
Protiviti B.V. Netherlands
Robert Half International B.V. Netherlands
Robert Half Nederland B.V. Netherlands
Robert Half New Zealand Limited New Zealand
Protiviti Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Robert Half International Pte. Ltd. Singapore
Protiviti Spain S.L. Spain

Robert Half S.L. Spain

Robert Half GmbH Switzerland

Robert Half International (Dubai) Ltd.

Protiviti Limited
Robert Half Holdings Limited
Robert Half Limited

United Arab Emirates

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8
(Nos. 33-14706, 33-32622, 33-32623, 33-39187, 33-39204, 33-40795, 33-52617, 33-56639, 33-56641, 33-57763,
33-62138, 33-62140, 33-65401, 33-65403, 333-05743, 333-05745, 333-18283, 333-18339, 333-38786,
333-38820, 333-42471, 333-42573, 333-42343, 333-42269, 333-50068, 333-50094, 333-66038, 333-66042,
333-68193, 333-68135, 333-68273, 333-75694, 333-79793, 333-79829, 333-88001, 333-91173, 333-91151,
333-91167, 333-98737, 333-125044 and 333-151015) of Robert Half International Inc., of our report dated
February 14, 2014, relating to the consolidated financial statements, financial statement schedule and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Francisco, California

February 14, 2014
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EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Harold M. Messmer, Jr., certify that:

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Robert Half International Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 14, 2014

/s/ HAROLD M. MESSMER, JR.

Harold M. Messmer, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, M. Keith Waddell, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Robert Half International Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 14, 2014

/s/ M. KEITH WADDELL

M. Keith Waddell
Vice Chairman, President and
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 of Robert
Half International Inc. (the “Form 10-K”), I, Harold M. Messmer, Jr., Chief Executive Officer of Robert Half
International Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of Robert Half International Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of
this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Robert Half International Inc. and will be
retained by Robert Half International Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.

February 14, 2014 /s/ Harold M. Messmer, Jr.

Harold M. Messmer, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
Robert Half International Inc.
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 of Robert
Half International Inc. (the “Form 10-K”), I, M. Keith Waddell, Chief Financial Officer of Robert Half
International Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of Robert Half International Inc.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of
this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Robert Half International Inc. and will be
retained by Robert Half International Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.

February 14, 2014 /s/ M. Keith Waddell

M. Keith Waddell
Chief Financial Officer
Robert Half International Inc.
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Andrew S. Berwick, Jr.
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International
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M. Keith Waddell
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Michael C. Buckley
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Steven Karel
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Evelyn Crane-Oliver
Senior Vice President, Associate General Counsel
and Assistant Secretary

Lex Doherty
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller

Kenneth D. Gitlin
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Tami A. Munns
Senior Vice President, Corporate Services — Staffing

M. Sean Perry
Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer

Reesa M. Staten
Senior Vice President, Corporate Communications

Paula M. Streit
Senior Vice President, Corporate Services — Protiviti

Elena West
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http://www.roberthalf.com
http://www.computershare.com/investor

Accountemps®
accountemps.com

Robert Half® Finance & Accounting
roberthalffinance.com

Robert Half® Management Resources
roberthalfmr.com

OfficeTeam®
officeteam.com

Robert Half® Technology
rht.com

Robert Half® Legal
roberthalflegal.com

The Creative Group®
creativegroup.com

Protiviti®
protiviti.com
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